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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good afternoon.

          3  We're running a little late. We're hoping to make up

          4  time in the afternoon, as we often do. Finance is

          5  now back in session and we are joined now with the

          6  Committee on Economic Development, Chaired by Thomas

          7  White, Jr. Let me just introduce our colleagues that

          8  are here, and we'll be joined by other colleagues as

          9  well. We have Council Member Mike McMahon from

         10  Staten Island, Council Member Alan Gerson of

         11  Manhattan, Council Member Leroy Comrie from Queens,

         12  Council Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx,

         13  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council

         14  Member Simcha Felder from Brooklyn, Council Member

         15  Lew Fidler from Brooklyn, Council Member Diana Reyna

         16  from Brooklyn and Queens, Council Member Tish James

         17  from Brooklyn, and I think I got everybody, and I'm

         18  going to turn it over to my Co-Chair, Chair White,

         19  for an opening statement.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         21  much. Good morning. My name is Councilman Thomas

         22  White, Jr., and I'm the Chair of the Economic

         23  Development Committee. This is a joint hearing of

         24  the Economic Development Committee and the Finance

         25  Committee.
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          2                 In this recent hearing, in this

          3  hearing the Committee hopes to learn more regarding

          4  EDC's role in the Mayor's recent announced PlanNYC.

          5  We will also continue our review of the City's

          6  commitment of capital funds for EDC's projects.

          7                 In addition to the overall cost and

          8  benefits of these projects, the Committee is

          9  particularly concerned with the questions of whether

         10  Minority and Women-Owned Businesses are able to

         11  participate in EDC projects.

         12                 I also want to add that I believe

         13  when EDC sponsors a project in a community, they

         14  have a responsibility to see that community members

         15  benefit directly from these projects, in terms of

         16  jobs, both during and after construction. I think

         17  for this to happen, communities need to be engaged

         18  when a project is being planned.

         19                 After EDC we will turn to the Fiscal

         20  Year '08 Executive Budget for the Department of

         21  Small Business Services, and this portion of the

         22  hearing will be joint with Finance and the Committee

         23  for Small Business and the Select Committee on

         24  Community Development.

         25                 I would like to thank Robert Lieber,
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          2  the President of EDC, for joining us. I also would

          3  like to thank Jeff Haberman from our staff, Council

          4  staff with legal, Ralph Hernandez from Finance,

          5  Dotty Conway, Policy Analyst, and David Pechefsky

          6  from Finance.

          7                 At this point I would like to hear

          8  the testimony from Mr. Robert Lieber, President from

          9  EDC. Mr. Lieber.

         10                 MR. LIEBER: Good morning, or good

         11  afternoon, Chairman White or Chairman Weprin, and

         12  members of both Economic Development Committee and

         13  the Finance Committee. I am Bob Lieber. I am the

         14  President of the New York City Economic Development

         15  Corporation, and pleased to say I'm just beginning

         16  my fourth month in this position.

         17                 I'm also joined to my left by Jason

         18  Wright, who is the EDC Chief Financial Officer, and

         19  a number of my colleagues who are seated with us to

         20  the right to answer any questions that you might

         21  have.

         22                 Our goal here today is to -- well, I

         23  should say, when we did this presentation three

         24  months ago, or when I did it, we talked in detail

         25  about a number of the different projects EDC is
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          2  involved in. The approach that we are taking today

          3  is rather than go through and detail each of the

          4  projects that we've already discussed with you, what

          5  we would like to talk about is certainly the capital

          6  budget, what's in the budget and what changes have

          7  taken place.

          8                 I also want to talk about major

          9  initiatives, updates on major initiatives, and allow

         10  for Q&A. So, it's not as much a resuscitation of all

         11  of the things we've covered with you before, but

         12  it's more an opportunity to update you on some of

         13  the changes and steps that have evolved since we met

         14  with you three months ago. And in particular, and

         15  again, we're happy to discuss any of the topics that

         16  you'd like to, but certainly on our agenda here

         17  today is to talk about the Green Buildings

         18  Initiative, which is certainly an integral part of

         19  the Mayor's overall PlaNYC Sustainability Program.

         20  We also want to talk about MWBE program, what we've

         21  been doing in that area. We're also going to discuss

         22  recent updates on Willoughby Square, Underground

         23  Railroad, as it relates to Willoughby Square, and

         24  also update you on Piers 7 through 12. These are all

         25  topics that were an important part of our
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          2  conversation with you three months ago, and I think

          3  are worthy of updates here.

          4                 Again, we're happy to discuss

          5  anything that you'd like to, but that's what I'm

          6  going to concentrate my focus on initially, and then

          7  we'll go to the Q&A portion of that.

          8                 So, the last time we met with you, we

          9  presented the EDC Preliminary Budget for Fiscal Year

         10  2008, and today we're going to present the final

         11  details of our capital budget, and so we were going

         12  to have slides. I do believe you should all have

         13  handouts this time; is that correct? Everyone have

         14  handouts? Yes. Okay, good. So, we'll talk to the

         15  Capital Budget, which begins on page three, and the

         16  way that we've broken this out is, of EDC's total

         17  Capital Budget for Fiscal Years '07 and '08, the

         18  total budget is $1.7 billion. We've tried to break

         19  out here for you the components of those in both

         20  what I'll call commercial development activities,

         21  joint state initiatives, asset management and then

         22  the ubiquitous other category. For purposes, you

         23  know, in the commercial development's function,

         24  which is 37, almost 38 percent of the total budget,

         25  a little over $500 million, some of the projects
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          2  that are included in this are the Downtown Brooklyn

          3  Project, which is approximately $82 million. The BAM

          4  Cultural District, which is $65 million, the

          5  redevelopment of HomePort in Staten Island, which is

          6  $55 million, Coney Island $33 million, and

          7  Streetscape activity in Long Island City

          8  representing $11 million.

          9                 Dividing it out a little bit, between

         10  '07 and '08, for '07 our development budget is $244

         11  million, and for '08 the commercial development is

         12  142 million. So, included in this is also 275

         13  million of non-City funds, and this amount

         14  represents allocations for such projects as East

         15  River Waterfront in Lower Manhattan, which is

         16  approximately $137 million, the Bush Terminal Open

         17  Space Project in Brooklyn for $34 million, East

         18  River Science Park $27 million, and the Jamaica

         19  Station Airport Access Project, $25 million. So,

         20  I've tried to give you a highlight of some of the

         21  major items that are included in the '07 and '08

         22  budget for commercial development. If you look at

         23  the joint State initiatives component, these are

         24  projects we're doing, obviously, as the name would

         25  imply, with the State. These projects include the
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          2  Javits Center, which we have targeted in the budget

          3  here of 350 million, the Atlantic Yards at 100

          4  million, the Governor's Island at 65 million, and

          5  the total part of these joint state's initiatives is

          6  a little over 35 percent of the total budget, or

          7  $515 million. That's between '07 and '08.

          8                 And I think the point to make on the

          9  joint State initiatives is that the City's

         10  contributions either leveraged, an equal amount, or

         11  greater contribution, which comes from both State

         12  and federal sources to create a whole total amount

         13  which is far greater than the individual

         14  contributions, particularly those being made by the

         15  City.

         16                 Next category in the asset management

         17  is the budget that includes the development of our

         18  major industrial and waterfront properties that EDC

         19  manages on behalf of the City as well as other

         20  overall City property portfolios, the markets, et

         21  cetera, that the EDC has the responsibility for

         22  managing. The line totals $362 million across both

         23  fiscal years. Examples of projects that would fall

         24  into the asset management category would include the

         25  Manhattan Cruise Terminal with a little over $160
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          2  million, the strategic improvements for one of our

          3  largest assets, the Brooklyn Army Terminal at $25

          4  million and Bush Terminal at $18 million.

          5                 We also are adding improvements at

          6  Hunt's Point Market, that's $21 million, and $20

          7  million is allocated for the reconstruction of the

          8  Sheepshead Bay bulkhead.

          9                 The fourth category in the Capital

         10  Budget, the other line item really refers to the

         11  funding agreements on projects that are sponsored

         12  both by City Council projects, as well as by Borough

         13  Presidents, a representative sampling of these

         14  projects would include the Allianza Dominicana

         15  Project of $9.8 million, the Bedford Stuyvesant

         16  Restoration Corporation Plaza Renovation, a little

         17  over $5.3 million, the Jamaica Parking Lot at $2

         18  million and the Apollo Theater renovation of 1.7

         19  million.

         20                 The total projects on the funding

         21  side are approximately $125 million. So, that's the

         22  summary. If you look at this chart at the bottom of

         23  page three, we've tried to break this out between

         24  the capital budgets that EDC manages on behalf of

         25  other City agencies, and these include, Capital
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          2  projects for Department of Transportation, such as

          3  the ferry terminals, for Department of Parks and

          4  Recreation, would include Yankee Stadium and the

          5  highline, for Cultural Affairs would include Lincoln

          6  Center and the New York Aquarium, as well as various

          7  funding agreements with DCAS and others. So, for

          8  Fiscal Years '07 and '08, this total budget is

          9  approximately $758 million.

         10                 If you go to the next slide which is

         11  the new Capital Budget funding for '07 through '12,

         12  that was announced in the Executive Budget by the

         13  Mayor. This includes an incremental $78 million

         14  which will be allocated through the next five years,

         15  and will include the following line items for EDC

         16  projects.

         17                 The first is a little over $30

         18  million for the Queens Plaza garage, an incremental

         19  $10 million to complete the acquisition in Downtown

         20  Brooklyn of the Willoughby Square Project. And

         21  additional $7.8 million for the Comprehensive

         22  Neighborhood Economic Development Bedford Stuyvesant

         23  Gateway Program, an additional $6.5 million goes

         24  towards the renovation of the interior of the BMB,

         25  or the Battery Maritime Building, $3 million to
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          2  acquire the Salvation Army Building in the BAM

          3  Cultural District, an additional $2 million for the

          4  168th Street Armory and 600,000 for the Brooklyn

          5  Bridge Walkway. So, in the commercial development

          6  component of those four components identified,

          7  that's the make-up of that $60 million.

          8                 Under the maritime initiative

          9  section, we would add $4 million for pile renovation

         10  on the Brooklyn Cruise Terminal, and emergency

         11  waterfront reserve of approximately $4 million, and

         12  new canopies for the Manhattan Cruise Terminal,

         13  which are in the budget for $3 million.

         14                 Under asset management, we're $4

         15  million for the two projects, two properties on Food

         16  Center Drive and Hunts Point. These are building

         17  rehabilitation projects.  We also have to replace

         18  one of the elevators in Phase 1 of the Brooklyn Army

         19  Terminal, that's approximately $3.2 million, and

         20  that really completes those components that make up

         21  the incremental dollars, $78 million from the final

         22  Executive Budget.

         23                 So those are the major changes and

         24  components of the budget and the Executive Budget. I

         25  wanted to now turn towards what we call the major
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          2  initiatives update. Again, I want to talk a little

          3  bit about green buildings, and the MWBE and some of

          4  this I will call on some of my colleagues to assist

          5  in that conversation. But first and foremost, as

          6  you've heard from the PlaNYC discussion, and

          7  certainly important to all of us in New York, is

          8  that the single greatest asset that we all share is

          9  our environment, and EDC has already begun to

         10  implement ways that we can share in the

         11  responsibility of creating sustainable development

         12  by conforming to Local Law 86. This law went into

         13  effect January of this year, and impacts over $12

         14  billion in construction projects that we forecast

         15  over the next ten years.

         16                 What we're looking at is creating the

         17  demand for green products and services, which will

         18  influence the architects, the engineers,

         19  contractors, manufacturers and maintenance workers

         20  all involved in construction of these kinds of

         21  projects.

         22                 We have established our own,

         23  increasing our focus on this area by establishing

         24  our Green Industry Desk, which is part of our

         25  business development and client coverage efforts,
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          2  which is really designed to foster relationships

          3  with all types of businesses involved in the

          4  sustainability area and create jobs and foster the

          5  green job creation. The green industry desk is going

          6  to work to focus on supporting private green

          7  building development projects, attract green firms

          8  to New York City, and institute connections between

          9  the money, which exists within the venture capital

         10  community, and the local green firms in order to

         11  develop new technologies and new products that can

         12  be applied to the development activities, which take

         13  place in the City.

         14                 We've also hired through a

         15  competitive procurement process the green building

         16  consultant who will work with us to review and

         17  evaluate green building strategies and techniques

         18  which we will include in all of the RFP submissions

         19  on projects we're involved in, as well as assist in

         20  the development of goals and guidelines for projects

         21  to meet the green objectives that we've set forth.

         22  And help the projects that were involved and achieve

         23  the lead certification from a sustainable

         24  qualification.

         25                 All of our RFPs now include green
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          2  requirement. And all buildings that have development

          3  cost in excess of a million dollars must achieve the

          4  lead certification. And for buildings that are less

          5  than a million we've got to work to develop low cost

          6  and cost effective components into the building

          7  design to try and achieve the same green objectives.

          8                 We also, Chairman White, you

          9  mentioned the idea of incorporating minority and

         10  woman business enterprises, programs in the

         11  activities involved in the development activities

         12  that EDC is involved in, and we very much support

         13  that and are working to identify and encourage this

         14  participation on all activities, but particularly

         15  supporting and providing information to contractors

         16  and consultants about procurement and contracting

         17  procedures to ensure the MWBE goals are achieved.

         18                 We work with the contractors and

         19  consultants to expand the lists of certified

         20  subcontractors and subconsultants. We want to work

         21  to build name recognition and brand recognition and

         22  capacity of these firms by hosting training

         23  workshops and networking events so that we can

         24  expand the roster of qualified candidates that are

         25  known to the construction business, and we want to
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          2  increase the availability of a more comprehensive

          3  database of the MWBE firms which will encourage the

          4  vendors and the EDC staff to utilize the diverse

          5  talent base that's represented from the sector.

          6                 We have set a number of participation

          7  goals on all of the projects, particularly those

          8  funded with City dollars, including the mayoral

          9  capital, the City Council capital, Borough President

         10  capital and City tax levy monies, and any contract

         11  that have an award less than $1 million.

         12                 For Fiscal Year '07, projects

         13  subcontracted under $1 million of participation

         14  targets of 20 percent for construction, 22 percent

         15  for professional services, and we have our MWBE

         16  officer here with us today to answer more questions,

         17  if and when you would like to, as we move forward.

         18                 The next major initiative would be an

         19  update to you all on the Willoughby Square

         20  acquisition that relates to the Underground

         21  Railroad. Last Tuesday the NYC EDC testified on the

         22  results of a two and a half year comprehensive study

         23  of the Duffield Street houses, which are seven

         24  properties, located in the proximity of the proposed

         25  Willoughby Square development in Downtown Brooklyn.
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          2  This was a very thorough and we believe very

          3  comprehensive study that was discussed and although

          4  no conclusive evidence was found linking these

          5  properties directly to the historic underground

          6  railroad, we do realize that the scope and depth of

          7  the research indicated that there is a significant

          8  amount, or there was a significant amount of

          9  underground railroad activity in the greater

         10  Downtown Brooklyn area, and we said this last week,

         11  we think it's critically important that this history

         12  is retained and documented for the education of New

         13  Yorkers and all Americans, and you know,

         14  unfortunately there aren't any forums today that

         15  provide, that exist in Downtown Brooklyn that

         16  provide this type of education, and the City sees

         17  this as a prime opportunity to establish different

         18  ways to create appropriate commemoration of the

         19  Underground Railroad and all the freedom fighters

         20  that were associated with that.

         21                 So, we are still working to find

         22  local constituents within Brooklyn that we can

         23  partner with to come up with appropriate

         24  commemoration for this activity. And we can talk

         25  more about that as well.
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          2                 Next on the update on the initiatives

          3  would be Piers 7 through 12. I think that this is a

          4  project we spend a significant amount of time on,

          5  and this is a top priority for EDC, a top priority

          6  to preserve the maritime industrial jobs as a part

          7  of this part of the Brooklyn waterfront.

          8                 We look at the Brooklyn Waterfront as

          9  not just Pier 7 through 12, or Pier 7 through 10,

         10  but all of the waterfront from Red Hook down through

         11  Sunset Park and other parts of that area.

         12                 So, our number one goal is to come up

         13  with a strategy and a plan that will increase the

         14  number of quality jobs on the waterfront, that we'll

         15  do so in a way that preserves the industrial and

         16  maritime characteristics of this area, as well as

         17  works to diversify the economy, provide additional

         18  uses for residents in the community and provide

         19  greater access to that waterfront.

         20                 So, this is a project that has an

         21  intense amount of focus from EDC. We are committed

         22  to moving forward with the Port Authority to execute

         23  this plan, but critical to this is that we be able

         24  to stand in front of you and be very specific about

         25  the number of incremental jobs that are being
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          2  created, and the incremental businesses and revenues

          3  that we believe can be generated from the activity

          4  on these piers.

          5                 So, again, it's something that's

          6  very, very important to us. We understand that we

          7  want to be very clear about what that incremental

          8  job creation is going to be all about.

          9                 I will just anecdotally mention to

         10  you that we have a tenant now that wants to occupy

         11  on of those piers, and cannot because the existing

         12  tenant on that space has not vacated the space. The

         13  lease expired several years ago. We want to make

         14  sure that this tenant does not leave New York City

         15  for other areas or other states. I am meeting with

         16  the CEO again this afternoon to talk about

         17  strategies that we can employ to ensure that

         18  existing 500 jobs that this company currently has,

         19  plus what we project in incremental, 100 jobs does

         20  not leave New York City, and we are working to find

         21  a way to make sure we can retain them in New York,

         22  and preferably here on the Brooklyn waterfront. So,

         23  we'll talk a little bit more about that if you like,

         24  as well.

         25                 The next major initiative, I didn't
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          2  cover it when I talked about the agenda, originally

          3  on Willets Point. The Mayor announced last Tuesday

          4  the public scoping for Willets Point. This is a

          5  project of some 66 acres of very contaminated

          6  environmental land in Queens. It's just east and

          7  North of the new Met Stadium. It's an area that has,

          8  is characterized by a mixture of a number of

          9  different businesses, and it is our commitment to do

         10  all that we can to develop a relocation plan for the

         11  existing tenants to provide for fair treatment of

         12  the employers and the land owners who exist on the

         13  site.

         14                 So, more of that work is underway.

         15  When we announced this we had the first public

         16  hearing, scoping hearing last Tuesday, and a major

         17  part of our initiative as we go forward here is to

         18  make sure we can do everything we can to be fair to

         19  the existing land owners and tenants that exist and

         20  the employees on Willets Point. So, we've conducted

         21  a lot of outreach activity over the past two years.

         22  There's a significant amount of incremental outreach

         23  activity that is required, particularly with these

         24  tenants.

         25                 So, this is a very exciting project
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          2  and a very exciting opportunity to create a major

          3  mixed use project in a very active and growing part

          4  of our City, and we're very excited about working on

          5  this and seeing this through to fruition.

          6                 When I go through my slides, this is

          7  really the end of the prepared remarks that I have

          8  made, and I'd be happy to turn this over to ask any

          9  questions that you might have, and I call upon any

         10  of my colleagues to help answer your questions.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         13  President Lieber. I've got a few questions to open

         14  up, and then I'll turn it over to my co-chair.

         15                 I listened and studied intently the

         16  Mayor's PlaNYC, I guess for the Year 2030, and I was

         17  very happy to see when the Mayor proposed his

         18  executive budget just a week or two ago, that he

         19  actually included funding both on the Capital side

         20  and the Expense side for those initiatives.

         21                 Can you give us an overall dollar

         22  amount, how much has been put in on the capital side

         23  in particular, for some of the initiatives in that

         24  plan?

         25                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I think that -- do
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          2  you want to answer the question, Jason?

          3                 MR. WRIGHT: Sure, I'll try and take a

          4  stab at it. In our budget there is not a capital

          5  allocation yet for PlaNYC, but there is 25 million

          6  for Brownsville remediation programs, and that we're

          7  working with the Mayor's Office of Operations very

          8  closely to develop those, and also working with the

          9  Law Department on the structure and how that will

         10  work.

         11                 There is also 50,000 to do an

         12  energy-related solar study, and --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That would be on

         14  the Expense side.

         15                 MR. WRIGHT: They're all Expense.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Right.

         17                 MR. WRIGHT: As I had mentioned, there

         18  is not a capital allocation in our budget yet.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is it possible

         20  that there will be at a later date?

         21                 MR. WRIGHT: I think anything is

         22  possible, absolutely. I mean, I think we absolutely

         23  would have to, to keep this moving forward. I think

         24  it was important to at least try to establish some

         25  of these earlier programs.

                                                            24

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, so how much

          3  is put in on the Expense Side total?

          4                 MR. WRIGHT: We've got, it's just

          5  under 30 million. There's another million and a half

          6  to do a brownfields assessment of a mapping, which I

          7  think we're very well equipped to do because we've

          8  mapped very closely our waterfront properties and

          9  the portfolio of properties that we have to deal

         10  with and have a good maintenance schedule that we're

         11  working on, and we work with OMB when we need to put

         12  capital improvements into each site.

         13                 And there is also an allocation of

         14  about a million-fifty for staffing needs to move

         15  these initiatives forward.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: How many new

         17  staffers do you anticipate related to PlaNYC?

         18                 MR. LIEBER: I don't think we have a

         19  budgeted number yet for the number of people yet.

         20  But my guess is we're looking at five to ten people

         21  based on this budget.

         22                 I would say that from our perspective

         23  is looking at the PlaNYC proposal, the brownfields

         24  fund is one of the most important components of

         25  that, because as we all talk about, and I mentioned
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          2  in my opening remarks, we don't have any more land,

          3  and we just see this as a critical aspect of trying

          4  to create additional space where we can accommodate

          5  people by remediating these brownfields, because

          6  actually many of them are very attractive locations

          7  as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. While there

          9  were a lot of very good things that I agreed with in

         10  the Mayor's Plan in 2030, or PlaNYC, one of the

         11  things I disagreed with was his plan on congestion

         12  pricing, which I consider just a tax. But I know as

         13  part of that plan he talked about creating a

         14  separate infrastructure authority for New York City,

         15  which would fund a number of New York City-based

         16  infrastructure transportation related, which is

         17  something I don't necessarily disagree with, as long

         18  as it's not funded with the congestion tax as I call

         19  it. Have you had any discussion with OMB or the

         20  Mayor's Office about your possible involvement in

         21  any such authority? Has there been any discussions?

         22                 MR. LIEBER: We have not spoken

         23  directly about that, no. I would just add that as it

         24  relates to the program, the PlaNYC, what the Mayor's

         25  Office has tried to develop, and we were involved in
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          2  this to a certain extent, is to come up with a plan

          3  that is something that is achievable and something

          4  that is financeable. So it's not just a dream list

          5  of things that, well, it would be nice to do, but

          6  trying to find a way to pay for some of these

          7  initiatives as well. So, I'm not taking a stand one

          8  way or another on the congestion pricing that we

          9  described. But we're looking for ways that with 127

         10  different initiatives to make this a more livable

         11  City, we have to try to find a way to pay for this

         12  as well, and the Smart Authority is a part of that

         13  as proposed. But our role at EDC in terms of how we

         14  would be involved in that is still to be determined.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But I assume in

         16  theory the debt service could be paid through

         17  another mechanism other than congestion tax; is that

         18  correct?

         19                 MR. LIEBER: I don't know. We're open

         20  to all ideas about how you can create the ongoing

         21  financing, so that you can pay the debt service to

         22  make the improvements we need to, to make it a

         23  better place.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, fair

         25  enough.
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          2                 Can you give us an update? I happen

          3  to be a Met fan and I've been to Shea Stadium a

          4  number of times since opening day and I can see the

          5  project looks to me to be ahead of schedule, but

          6  obviously I'm not a construction expert, and, you

          7  know, I know the plan is to open the spring of '09,

          8  but it seems to be well on its way. Can you give us

          9  an update on the Mets and Yankees' project as far as

         10  you know it, or is your involvement pretty much out

         11  now that it seems the financing was already done?

         12                 MR. LIEBER: Our involvement is not

         13  directly with the construction of either of the

         14  stadiums. Our involvement is more for the off-site

         15  activity that is taking place there both up at

         16  Yankee Stadium and Mets Stadium. And I'm a fellow

         17  Mets's fan and I'm happy they're first place as

         18  well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Glad to hear

         20  that.

         21                 MR. LIEBER: You know, I think part

         22  of, on Willets Point, which I can talk more about,

         23  is that you think about all the times you've been

         24  out to Shea Stadium, and if you're like me, you try

         25  and figure out what time you're going to leave, see
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          2  if you can drive and avoid traffic, and then what

          3  time again are you going to have to leave so you can

          4  avoid traffic coming home, there is nothing else to

          5  do out there. And what Willets Point offers is even

          6  for the 92 dates for the Mets we'll be playing

          7  regular world season and series baseball, you have a

          8  destination out there where people can live in a

          9  more vibrant community as it takes place.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I like your

         11  thinking when you mentioned world series, but thank

         12  you. Very good.

         13                 The City Council passed a law a

         14  couple of years ago that I sponsored to for the

         15  first time have the City Council vote on PILOT

         16  payments. There was an issue I guess and it arose

         17  more involved in the aborted or proposed Jets

         18  Stadium on the west side where for the first time I

         19  guess in the City's history a very large dollar

         20  amount was attributed to the PILOT payments in that

         21  project, and the issue came about with City Council

         22  approving it, and it took place with the Yankee and

         23  Mets Stadiums financing, we had extensive hearings

         24  on that as well and the PILOT payments and along

         25  with that legislation was quarterly reporting to the
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          2  City Council on the status of PILOT payments and the

          3  issue arose because in prior administrations prior

          4  to Mayor Bloomberg there was an issue about the

          5  secrecy about some of these PILOT payments that were

          6  basically a way to kind of circumvent the normal

          7  budget process where these Payments In Lieu Of Taxes

          8  would be put into a special economical development

          9  fund, and that money could be used for purposes

         10  unknown to the Council, unknown to the general

         11  public, and that was part of the whole dialogue

         12  behind this new legislation and obviously with the

         13  reporting and the City Council voting, you know,

         14  that situation changes.

         15                 However, as I mentioned in that

         16  legislation, there is supposed to be quarterly

         17  reporting by EDC, which I understand from Finance

         18  staff has been taking place; can you give us an

         19  update as we sit here as to the dollar amount of the

         20  PILOT payments, I would say in the '07, '08 budget

         21  or, you know, anticipated?

         22                 MR. WRIGHT: Everything you're saying

         23  is correct, and I think OMB submits that report to

         24  you and they gather the data on all PILOTs and, of

         25  course, one of them is IDA which is a significant

                                                            30

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  portion. I don't have the specific number, but I

          3  will get that to you, but I imagine that it is

          4  probably close to 60 million for this year, but we

          5  will get you that number. So, don't quote me as an

          6  exact number.

          7                 We don't have a projection for '08,

          8  because what we do is reconcile every year, and as

          9  you well know, there is never more than it's capped

         10  at, that 5 million, plus some of the agreed-upon

         11  expenditures that happen every year like the

         12  contribution to the Midtown Community Court House

         13  and Red Hook Community Court House to the Mayor's

         14  fund.

         15                 So, we can give you an idea when we

         16  get a little closer to '08 and I will give you a

         17  finalized number of what we think the reconciliation

         18  would be for Fiscal Year '07, and it's always very

         19  close in June when we do that transaction.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Obviously the

         21  Mets and Yankee Stadium were very large projects

         22  with significant PILOT payments and you know,

         23  obviously there were all sorts of IRS rulings that

         24  took place before the project was finalized.

         25                 Are there any other projects that you
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          2  anticipate of any substantial nature that we do not

          3  know about it, or have not really been discussed at

          4  great length that you anticipate coming down the

          5  pike involving PILOT payments over the next couple

          6  of years?

          7                 MR. LIEBER: We have some major

          8  projects that we're looking at, but I don't think

          9  that we're far enough along to be too specific at

         10  this stage. I mean, the Monian Station Project

         11  (phonetic), for example, is a major initiative that

         12  we're in the early stages of, and I just don't have

         13  anything that we've forecasted or projected but

         14  we'll keep you posted.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. In your

         16  testimony you testified as to the commitment of the

         17  350 Fiscal '07 for the expansion of the Jacob Javits

         18  Convention Center, and of course that was obviously

         19  something that had strong support in the City

         20  Council and the State Legislature; can you kind of

         21  give us an update on that project?

         22                 MR. LIEBER: What I would say is we

         23  are still working through with our colleagues at the

         24  State to finalize that design. We still have this

         25  building, this is an important project for us and we
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          2  still have the same amount of money budgeted for it.

          3  We're trying to finalize with the State around that

          4  design.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, you

          6  mentioned about the Willets Point Project which I

          7  agree is a very exciting project, in light of the

          8  whole area and the new proposed Mets Stadium, and

          9  actually that was one of the reasons why I was an

         10  early supporter of the Jets Stadium proposal, I was

         11  very excited about the destination aspect and the

         12  ability to actually have a lot to do before and

         13  after a particular game. I'm also a Jets's fan, in

         14  addition to a Mets's fan. They usually go together.

         15  Usually Yankees and Giants then Jets and Mets. But

         16  you know, it's just anecdotal. But can you -- now I

         17  lost track of what I was going to ask. What was I

         18  asking?

         19                 MR. LIEBER: You were talking about

         20  the access out and back from the Mets Stadium.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Right, the

         22  excitement at Willets Point. I'll get back to

         23  Willets Point. I actually had a couple of meetings

         24  with a number of the business owners in Willets

         25  Point, and obviously they were very concerned about
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          2  the discussions about relocation, and they feel in

          3  some cases that they've built up family businesses

          4  which are not -- not what has been classified as

          5  junk yards in the general public, and you know, they

          6  kind of found that term in some cases to be

          7  insulting to major businesses, family businesses in

          8  some cases second and third generation that have

          9  been built up over many years. So, I am concerned

         10  about your discussions with them and your plight.

         11  Can you kind of give us an update? And I'm very

         12  happy to hear you are committed to working with them

         13  and meeting with them, something that was not

         14  necessarily the case in the past in their opinion;

         15  can you kind of give us a little bit more update or

         16  elaborate a little bit more on some of those

         17  discussions?

         18                 MR. LIEBER: Well, again, we're in

         19  some of the early stages of this. I did meet with a

         20  number of the owners last week at the announcement

         21  and they said, you know, why haven't you been

         22  talking to us? How come we haven't been there? Well,

         23  we've tried. We're out there, you know, organizing

         24  meetings and events, but frankly we needed to make

         25  sure we had something that we thought was really
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          2  going to happen and it was feasible, both

          3  economically and physically in terms of the

          4  remediation, the design and the engineering, then as

          5  well as is there a market? And without creating too

          6  much disturbance and too much dislocation amongst

          7  that community, until we had a little more certainty

          8  around the plan, you know, I mean I wasn't here when

          9  this was taking place. That's not an excuse, it's

         10  just to say that I think it's important for us to

         11  make sure we had something we thought that was

         12  really achievable and that I think it's more

         13  important at this stage of the game, now that we do

         14  have something that is achievable that we are going

         15  to move forward with, that we make sure that we

         16  listen to these people, that we talk to them, that

         17  we understand their specific needs.

         18                 There are some 265 different

         19  businesses represented in the Willets Point Iron

         20  Triangle area, there are a nature, a number of

         21  different businesses and employers and employees

         22  there as well. We have I think some 11 land owners,

         23  landlords, owner occupiers, as well as own other

         24  land that own approximately 45 percent of all the

         25  land which exists there. You know, we are committed
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          2  to doing something that is fair. It doesn't mean

          3  it's something that people are going to necessarily

          4  like, or be ecstatic about, but we want to make sure

          5  we understand the specific needs. We're committed to

          6  identifying relocation programs and specific sites

          7  that the City either owns, controls or knows and is

          8  aware of with zoning so that we can accommodate the

          9  different kinds of businesses which exist there.

         10  Because there are a number of different businesses

         11  in the food processing business, as well as the

         12  autobody and repair shop activities which took place

         13  there, so it's not like moving the Fulton Fish

         14  Market where they're all on the same base of

         15  business, there are a lot of different businesses

         16  there.

         17                 So, we have a meeting -- their

         18  representative who has been hired to speak on their

         19  behalf to the big 11, if you will, that we're

         20  meeting with again next week. We met with him a

         21  couple of weeks ago, and I think first and foremost

         22  for us is we want to listen. We want to make sure we

         23  understand what their specific needs are, what their

         24  specific goals are, and then work with them to

         25  develop an appropriate plan that addresses their
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          2  needs, and we do it fairly, and we want to do this

          3  in as amicable way as we can.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm happy to hear

          5  that. I think that's a very good approach. Fair is a

          6  good place to start. It's a good starting point and

          7  I'm very happy that you're recognizing that there

          8  are different businesses, a diverse group of

          9  businesses and they're not all junk yards as has

         10  been classified in the press.

         11                 MR. LIEBER: I didn't characterize

         12  them as junk yards.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, I know. It

         14  has been classified in the press. I'm not

         15  attributing it to you by any means, and I find your

         16  comments very constructive, and very, you know, good

         17  start and very happy to hear them. And with that,

         18  I'll turn the mike over to my co-chair of Economic

         19  Development, Thomas White.

         20                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         22  much, Mr. Chair. Since we've had a late start, I'm

         23  going to ask the members here who have questions to

         24  ask, I will limit my questions and allow them to ask

         25  questions so we can proceed and get along, because
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          2  we also have the SBS, Small Businesses Chair and we

          3  also have the Community Development Chair, and I

          4  want to make sure everyone has their fair share of

          5  hearing.

          6                 Just to elaborate just a little bit.

          7  I had a meeting of the Economic Development

          8  Committee at Willets Point, and I'm happy to hear

          9  you say that you're talking with them, but I'm not

         10  really satisfied that they've gotten a fair shake in

         11  total with this whole project, not so much in terms

         12  of the progress that you're trying to make with our

         13  project, but you mentioned the word fairness. Now,

         14  according to the hearing that we had, the individual

         15  land owners and those businesses in that area had a

         16  commitment since 1989 from the City of New York to

         17  put in an infrastructure that would alleviate

         18  flooding and things of that nature. That never came

         19  to fruition. In 1992, thereabouts, there was the

         20  same commitment.

         21                 They also shared in that meeting that

         22  they were willing and that they had put forth a plan

         23  to develop the area as well with the infrastructure

         24  what the City is going to do, but they had never

         25  been given a fair shake to sit down as a group in a
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          2  hearing to discuss all of those issues with the

          3  City. And towards that end, I made a commitment that

          4  what I would try to do to the best of my ability is

          5  to see that they get a fair hearing with the

          6  Committee and with EDC, so we'll know everybody is

          7  being talked to, not as a community but as a group.

          8                 There is no commitment to promise

          9  that will in any way stop the project from moving

         10  forward. The commitment is that they be given a fair

         11  hearing, and that their voices be known and heard.

         12  And toward that end, I'm going to be seeking a

         13  hearing on that Willets Point Project.

         14                 MR. LIEBER: You have my commitment

         15  that we will do that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 Now, what I'd like to ask you is, in

         19  terms of the $30 million commitment for the Queens

         20  Plaza Garage, explain what this fund would be used

         21  for?

         22                 MR. LIEBER: I'd like to introduce

         23  Seth Pinsky (phonetic), who is Executive Vice

         24  President, to describe that.

         25                 MR. PINSKY: The Queens Plaza Garage
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          2  Project is a project that was RFP'd several years

          3  ago to Tishman Spire Properties (phonetic), and they

          4  are intending to construct a major office

          5  development on the site. The money that's in the

          6  budget would be for a City agency or agencies to

          7  take a certain amount of space in the building.

          8  We're still in negotiations over exactly how much

          9  space that is and who that would be, in order to get

         10  the first phase of that development off the ground,

         11  in conjunction with the City's occupancy, there

         12  would be a significant amount of speculative office

         13  space that would also be constructed that would be

         14  offered to the general market, and the hope is that

         15  with that first building constructed, Tishman would

         16  then be able to attract private sector tenants to

         17  the rest of the building.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Whose $30 million

         19  is this?

         20                 MR. PINSKY: It's $30 million from the

         21  City for tenant bid out.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, so now we

         23  haven't moved on that project?

         24                 MR. PINSKY: No, this would be to move

         25  the project.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, but that's a

          3  new commitment?

          4                 MR. PINSKY: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: In the new fiscal

          6  year?

          7                 MR. PINSKY: Correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: What about in the

          9  old fiscal year?

         10                 MR. PINSKY: There is no commitment.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Now, the

         12  $350 million for the Javits Center, that was in last

         13  year's capital budget, wasn't it?

         14                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, you want to

         16  roll it over to this year's capital budget?

         17                 MR. LIEBER: Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, we're really

         19  off in terms of figures we want to use, and when we

         20  want to use it?

         21                 I mean, if you've got $35 million

         22  sitting around, and you put it in the budget for a

         23  specific fiscal year and you don't use it, then that

         24  knocks the budget off by $350 million. In terms of

         25  usage.
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          2                 If you put it in the budget you're

          3  going to use it in the project, even if you spent

          4  $50 million, something of it, it's almost like the

          5  money is in an escrow fund, it just sits there. And

          6  we're not using it.

          7                 MR. PINSKY: And I wouldn't say that

          8  we disagree with you on that point. One thing to

          9  keep in mind is, when we work on some of these major

         10  development initiatives, especially when there is a

         11  join partnership, we're not taken seriously unless

         12  we're shown a commitment, and we would love to just

         13  say we have the appropriation and we're behind this,

         14  but even our State partners are saying, if you want

         15  us to put the money in our budget, you need to show

         16  us that you have it in yours as well. And we don't

         17  disagree. And we are working with OMB on ways to

         18  better forecast. You know, because obviously they

         19  have to be careful to cover this Citywide debt

         20  service based on the budget, but just keep in mind

         21  that EDC is a little bit different from let's say

         22  HPD or Sanitation where it's clearly programmatic,

         23  they're out either building sewers or doing streets,

         24  they know exactly what they're going to do every

         25  year, when we're working through some major
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          2  development projects --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, that's not

          4  always the case.

          5                 MR. PINSKY: No, you're right, it's

          6  not. And when it's not they also have to reforecast.

          7  But the point is, when you're working on a

          8  development project, you have to show the

          9  commitment, and we'd be glad to work on a different

         10  method of that. But that's how it exists.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: The only thing I'm

         12  concerned about with that, it's not the project,

         13  it's when you encumber money and you put it to the

         14  side, and we on the City Council's side, we're

         15  looking to fund certain things and there is no money

         16  to fund them. Yet, we have $350 million sitting

         17  somewhere which we have shown, according to what

         18  your statement is, the partners or the State that we

         19  are serious because we put $350 million to the side,

         20  what more can we show them?

         21                 MR. LIEBER: The point we want to make

         22  is, as I understand, this is forecasted, not

         23  encumbered. It's also not a project that we

         24  unilaterally control. And if we had the ability to

         25  unilaterally control that, we would be better able
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          2  to determine when that money is being spent. We have

          3  a big partner in this project.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. I'm going to

          5  leave the Jamaica Center to my colleague, Mr.

          6  Comrie, because I know he's looking at it, so I

          7  won't ask that question. But I am concerned as to

          8  the MWBE target goals as of when was it put into

          9  place?

         10                 MR. LIEBER: I'd like to invite Bomi

         11  Kim, who is our MWBE officer, to discuss our efforts

         12  in this area.

         13                 MS. KIM: As you know, --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Just identify

         15  yourself for the record.

         16                 MS. KIM: Bomi Kim. I'm New York

         17  City's EDC MWBE Director.

         18                 And the program was put in place July

         19  1st of 2006, as was required by the Local Law 129,

         20  and we set goals, as Bob had mentioned, 20 percent

         21  for professional services, and 22 percent for

         22  construction on subcontracts under $1 million, on

         23  City-funded projects.

         24                 Did you want me to continue?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: One moment,
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          2  please.

          3                 Okay, now, I just have to make sure

          4  that I don't have to infringe upon my co-chair in

          5  SBS. I'm not talking about the SBS side, I'm talking

          6  about the EDC side.

          7                 MS. KIM: The goals that I just

          8  described in our program is about EDC's MWBE

          9  program. We followed the guidelines that were in

         10  Local Law 129, and we worked with SBS as a partner

         11  on putting the program together, and these goals

         12  that I just mentioned is for projects EDC is

         13  running, whether it's on professional services or

         14  construction.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Now, I'm going to

         16  call on my memory. I do believe that we asked a

         17  number of staff that were a part of this venture,

         18  and I do believe they said there is only a staff of

         19  one?

         20                 MS. KIM: Well, I just want to clarify

         21  that EDC's MWBE program obviously manages MWBE

         22  program for EDC, not for SBS or not for the City. We

         23  work, like I said, in partnership with SBS. SBS is

         24  our sort of backbone, in terms of SBS is the agency

         25  that certifies MWBEs for the entire City. We are
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          2  responsible for running the MWBE program that

          3  encompasses projects that EDC manages.

          4                 So, yes, there is only one program

          5  staffed for MWBE program for EDC, but when you look

          6  across some of the other agencies across the City,

          7  the actual staff that managed the MWBE for a

          8  particular agency are not going to be at the level

          9  that SBS has. SBS, like I said, certifies MWBEs for

         10  the entire City and they run the MWBE program for

         11  the City and manages the process for sister agencies

         12  like ours.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Who do you work

         14  for?

         15                 MS. KIM: I work for New York City

         16  EDC.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay, I'm keeping

         18  this question with EDC.

         19                 MS. KIM: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: And it's goals and

         21  objectives.

         22                 MS. KIM: Mm-hmm.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Not SBS's goals

         24  and objectives.

         25                 MS. KIM: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, when we speak

          3  about the big projects that you're talking about,

          4  and we're talking about how do you measure how many

          5  jobs that have been created, et cetera, et cetera,

          6  et cetera, and I need that information from EDC --

          7                 MS. KIM: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: You can't give me

          9  that.

         10                 MS. KIM: Actually I can.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: You have to get

         12  that information from SBS?

         13                 MS. KIM: Like I said, I manage the

         14  MWBE program for EDC so I could definitely give you

         15  that information about how we've been doing.

         16                 Since July 1st of 2006, NYC EDC has

         17  released 13 major projects that were funded wholly

         18  by New York City capital funds, and, you know,

         19  program for MWBE participation, and we set MWBE

         20  participation goals on all of those projects.

         21                 To date, NYC EDC has awarded 60

         22  percent of its professional service subcontracts

         23  under 1 million to MWBEs. That's 61 percent of all

         24  professional services, subcontracts that were under

         25  a million dollars, awarded to MWBEs.
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          2                 In the construction sector, NYC EDC

          3  awarded 40 percent of all subcontracts under 1

          4  million to MWBEs.

          5                 MR. LIEBER: What was our target?

          6                 MS. KIM: Twenty-two percent for

          7  professional services and 20 percent for

          8  construction. So, as I may have demonstrated, we

          9  definitely received those goals.

         10                 These subcontracts are valued at over

         11  $7.5 million, at a total of 29 MWBEs have been

         12  awarded subcontracts on these projects, and of the

         13  29 MWBEs, 31 percent are WBEs and 69 percent were

         14  MWBEs.

         15                 In addition, beyond just the scope of

         16  Local Law 129, which requires for subcontracts for

         17  under a million dollars, or any contracts under $1

         18  million, EDC has awarded prime contracts worth $20

         19  million to MWBEs. So, those are our numbers so far.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay.

         21                 Now, as stated by the President, that

         22  sounds good; are these new goals that are set by

         23  EDC?

         24                 MS. KIM: The goals that we had

         25  mentioned, the 20 and 22 percent, were goals that
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          2  were set at the beginning of Fiscal Year 2007, which

          3  was July 1st.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Right. But are you

          5  expanding outside of the participation with

          6  subcontracts valued less than $1 million?

          7                 MS. KIM: I would definitely encourage

          8  all of qualified MWBEs to bid on projects above a

          9  million dollars, and we try to engage them when they

         10  meet those qualifications, that we are following the

         11  rules according to Local Law 129, which says, you

         12  know, we should track projects and subcontracts

         13  under a million dollars.

         14                 Like I said, we do track where we do

         15  award beyond the $1 million. As I had mentioned, we

         16  had awarded $20 million worth of prime contracts to

         17  MWBEs since July 1st of this year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, you couldn't

         19  tell me how many people have been employed under

         20  this Local Law 129?

         21                 MS. KIM: Well, I mean, the Local Law

         22  129 I believe only covers the construction end, the

         23  contracting end. I am not able to give you the

         24  numbers on the actual labor side, no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, how do we
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          2  measure that people are living up to certain

          3  standards as it relates to Women and Minority-owned

          4  Businesses employs, and those individual companies

          5  that get benefits from EDC, how many people it

          6  employs?

          7                 MS. KIM: Like I said, we have not

          8  been keeping track in terms of the actual labor, but

          9  I mean we do require all of our subcontractors and

         10  contractors filing employment reports. So, we will

         11  be able to track it that way. But I don't have the

         12  numbers right now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: But you can, they

         14  do have a responsibility to give you those numbers

         15  if you asked for them?

         16                 MS. KIM: Yes. I mean, they obviously

         17  have to certify payrolls and so on, so yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, would it be a

         19  hinderance on your part if I ask that we --

         20                 MS. KIM: We'll get you those numbers.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 All right, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         25  Felder.

                                                            50

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

          3  much. And good luck in your new position.

          4                 The Chief Financial Officer, how long

          5  have you been there, Mr. Wright?

          6                 MR. WRIGHT: I believe I'm there now,

          7  it will be seven years in July.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Excellent. So

          9  there is some sort of continuity, despite the fact

         10  that Mr. White (sic) has been there a short amount

         11  of time. And I just want to raise an issue, I'm not

         12  asking a question, I'm just going to make a number

         13  of statements. I'm sorry, Mr. Lieber. I'm sorry. And

         14  good afternoon, Mr. Wright. Nice to be here with

         15  you.

         16                 Are you aware, of I should say there

         17  are many projects with EDC that were started

         18  together with the City Council, with City Council

         19  members as initiatives, and when you talk about some

         20  of your projects, certainly many of them are in the

         21  multi-millions, but some of them are not, and there

         22  are many of my colleagues, including myself, have

         23  attempted to do projects with EDC over the years,

         24  taking capital money that people call "pork barrel"

         25  and using them in constructive ways to improve the
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          2  Economic Development in our neighborhoods, taking

          3  the initiatives that we are able to do and using

          4  them for specific goals in our communities.

          5                 Are you aware, I'll change my mind if

          6  I can, Chair Weprin, and ask a question: Are you

          7  aware of these initiatives?

          8                 MR. LIEBER: I guess I'm not really

          9  sure what the exact question is. Am I aware of the

         10  initiatives that EDC is involved in? By and large,

         11  yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: With City

         13  Council members?

         14                 MR. LIEBER: By and large, yes. We

         15  have over 192 projects that we're involved in. So,

         16  if you have one specifically you want to --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No, now it's

         18  my turn to ask the next question.

         19                 MR. LIEBER: Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you. So,

         21  you understood my question, obviously.

         22                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: And I

         24  appreciate that.

         25                 The second question is, do you have
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          2  some sort of grid or accounting of how long these

          3  initiatives have been with EDC, what amounts to how

          4  long they have taken to get actually done?

          5                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You understand

          7  that question?

          8                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Good.

         10                 So, do you have --

         11                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Is there a way

         13  that we can get a breakdown of that?

         14                 MR. LIEBER: No. I mean, I have the

         15  information.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, good.

         17  I'm happy we're having an honest discourse.

         18                 MR. LIEBER: Do you want me to expand

         19  on that?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Please.

         21                 MR. LIEBER: We have a system that is

         22  being complied, which will identify each and every

         23  project that EDC is involved in, and on that list

         24  we'll chart out when the project began, what the

         25  source of the project is, where it stands, and what
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          2  the critical milestones associated with that project

          3  might be.

          4                 That was one of the first things that

          5  I wanted to have in this position so that when I got

          6  an inquiry on a project, I could go to one place and

          7  find out the facts about that project.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay. So,

          9  would it be fair for the chair, for the chairs I

         10  should say, to request those items? Not general

         11  items. I, God forbid, would not want you to give me

         12  any information about anything that is not related

         13  to the City Council. But those items that are

         14  related to City Council initiatives, can you

         15  explain? I guess you said no, can you explain why we

         16  can't --

         17                 MR. LIEBER: The answer is yes, I can

         18  give you that information.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay. So, I'm

         20  requesting respectfully by the Chairs. You know,

         21  it's none of my business how somebody else is

         22  suffering if no one else wants me to know, but the

         23  chairs of the Committee, I think it's important. Do

         24  you have any rough idea about how many millions of

         25  dollars are sitting at EDC with projects? Not that
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          2  were proposed this year, or proposed over the last

          3  four years of the Administration, the first

          4  Administration?

          5                 In other words, I'm not being clear,

          6  and many people think that that's a general problem

          7  with me, but under the first term of this

          8  Administration, do you have any idea how many

          9  millions of dollars were proposed by Council members

         10  for projects that were not done by EDC?

         11                 MR. LIEBER: I do not. We can get you

         12  that information, if you would like it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes, I would

         14  like it.

         15                 And now just to top it off, is that

         16  I'm not trying to give you aggravation. Certainly

         17  you deserve a honeymoon for a little time, but I

         18  must say to you that if you spend, and I want to

         19  compliment you on the fact that you came in looking

         20  for this information, but if you spend more time,

         21  you will find that many Council Members have stopped

         22  taking money that they have available to them to do

         23  capital projects or otherwise in the City and have

         24  spent that money on good projects with Parks and

         25  others, but have initially -- I came in very
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          2  excited. I'm going to say that, very excited about

          3  doing a number of different projects in my community

          4  that maybe are not the forefront of the papers, but

          5  that would have been of tremendous assistance,

          6  economic development in my community. I am turned

          7  off, I'm telling you I am turned off, and if I had

          8  the ability today to take back every penny that I

          9  allocated to some of the projects, or I should say

         10  one in particular I would do so. The only reason I

         11  would not is that so much money has been invested

         12  already in the project, that it's a waste. But I beg

         13  you. I beg you, and I say this with heartfelt

         14  seriousness, not trying to mock you in any way. I

         15  was mocking you before, but I'm not mocking you in

         16  any way. I don't even know you, there is no reason I

         17  should mock you, but I am mocking process by which

         18  these projects have not been implemented, and the

         19  reason I say it more emphatically now is when you

         20  talk about the Mayor's 2030, if EDC can't get a

         21  small project done in Midwood with the staff they

         22  have, and you're talking about increased staff, you

         23  know, nominal really. There is no way in the world

         24  that you can get this done with the request. You

         25  need a lot more staff. Either that or you need other
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          2  staff. Because if you can't get this done, there is

          3  no way that dream, which is a wonderful dream, but

          4  is humungous, is going to get done with the staff

          5  you have, and I'm just begging you to look into this

          6  and to furnish the information of the Chairs and

          7  maybe we can get details, Chair Weprin, of our

          8  individual projects.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Yes, Council

         10  member, I assume President Lieber, in addition to

         11  the overall status of the projects that the City

         12  Council initiated, you would be glad to meet with

         13  any individual Council members, or communicate with

         14  Council members who had a particular concern about

         15  one particular project, as Councilman Felder seems

         16  to have.

         17                 MR. LIEBER: We would be happy to do

         18  that. We feel we're accountable to City Council and

         19  City Council projects. And if you have any questions

         20  about the status of any project, if I don't know

         21  what it is when you call, I will find out. You

         22  deserve an answer, period.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I have no

         24  requests. They know what's going on. I just want the

         25  details. I think that it's important, again, please
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          2  forgive me, that the Chair, the Chairs today get all

          3  the information so they can see that this is not an

          4  isolated problem, and the reason members, those who

          5  have had the experience, have stopped allocating

          6  money to wonderful and needed projects in our

          7  communities, is because they just don't get done.

          8  They don't get done.

          9                 And it's not a fight about Simcha

         10  Felder's district or somebody else's district, this

         11  is an issue, you know, I'm asking the Chairs to

         12  intervene, so that it's on record very clearly that

         13  it's not getting done, so that either things can

         14  change or that members know, don't waste your money

         15  at EDC, take it an put it all into parks or

         16  somewhere else. That's all.

         17                 MR. PINSKY: Let me just try to

         18  address that a little bit for you. We do track the

         19  projects. We do try to work with the elected

         20  officials. In fact, you can lead today with the list

         21  of projects that you have funded through the funding

         22  agreements, but I do want to say that we are really

         23  taking a concerted effort on trying to get a contact

         24  from these groups that you want to fund. We invite

         25  them at least twice a year to a funding agreements
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          2  workshop, so they understand capital eligibility and

          3  what they knew and we give them a check list.

          4                 We have actually increased our staff

          5  that are dedicated to funding agreements. Originally

          6  we had one to two people, and now we're up to I

          7  think four people who are dedicated, and the groups

          8  that actually come in, contact us, we know what the

          9  scope is. We're moving along with the projects. What

         10  we would encourage you all to do for the groups that

         11  you fund is to make sure that they contact us. We

         12  need a name, who are we going to work with, what's

         13  the scope, we're working very hard to get this done.

         14                 So, it's a shame that you feel that

         15  way, but we are here and we are committed to move

         16  projects along, and we are moving projects along and

         17  we will absolutely meet with you on particular ones

         18  that you feel are stalled.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, listen,

         20  I said that I'm crazy, but you don't have to rub it

         21  in, and I'm not stupid. I'm not talking about those

         22  particular groups or anything else. Do you have a

         23  record of Avenue J in my district, how long it's

         24  been, how long ago it's been funded?

         25                 MR. PINSKY: We have Avenue J. I don't
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          2  have the date it started.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well, you

          4  should check out the date it started, sir.

          5                 MR. PINSKY: Construction starts this

          6  spring.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: That's

          8  wonderful. Do you know how many years you've had it?

          9                 MR. PINSKY: As I said, I don't have

         10  the dates right here.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: There are no

         12  groups. This has to do with government. There are no

         13  groups. There is no group that anybody had to

         14  contact, it's not a question of missing numbers. I

         15  apologize. But don't make it seem that somehow

         16  everything is fine and the only thing that's going

         17  wrong is you're not getting information. That's not

         18  what's going on. This is called bureaucracy.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. I think

         20  this is a discussion to be had outside of the

         21  context of this hearing.

         22                 I believe Chair White had a

         23  follow-up?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Yes. Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 I'd like to ask the young lady, when

          3  did EDC, not SBS, create their MWBE target goals as

          4  Mr. Leiber has just discussed in his testimony?

          5                 And I understand that Local Law 129

          6  specifically covers City contracts, however, EDC

          7  projects include both City and privately funded

          8  projects, which opens up the pool of available MWBE

          9  projects, specifically, specifically was this at the

         10  Council's urging?

         11                 MS. KIM: I was brought on to run the

         12  MWBE program at July of 2006. So, that's when we

         13  started the program.

         14                 We are currently definitely dedicated

         15  to making sure that we're meeting all the

         16  requirements of Local Law 129. But as you mentioned,

         17  you know, we do get funding from other sources. We

         18  do put goals on those projects that are outside the

         19  scope of Local Law 129. We are definitely looking to

         20  make sure that all of EDC projects, regardless of

         21  what the funding is, will be covered under, will

         22  have MWBE's goals of participation involved.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         25  Comrie.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Good

          3  afternoon, President Lieber and staff. Just to

          4  follow-up on that last question with non-EDC or

          5  finance projects, so the Court House project, just

          6  to use a project in Jamaica that was just signed off

          7  this year, that will fall under your MWBE monitoring

          8  as well?

          9                 MS. KIM: Yes. We have been in contact

         10  with the developer. They have committed to MWBE

         11  goals, and we will be keeping track of that and

         12  making sure they're meeting their goals.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And the pier

         14  project and all of the other projects that are under

         15  EDC is including the Atlantic Yards and East River

         16  and the PILOT projects as well? The PILOT projects,

         17  such as the Stadium projects that are getting PILOT

         18  money, you're going to monitor and ensure that they

         19  are meeting the MWBE program guidelines?

         20                 MS. KIM: EDC is definitely working

         21  with all those different projects to make sure that

         22  we are aware of the need from MWBE participation. We

         23  are looking to see how the program would be

         24  incorporated into those programs.

         25                 We're definitely looking to make sure

                                                            62

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  that both, all of these large scale, you know,

          3  redevelopment and construction projects are

          4  considering the participation of MWBEs as an

          5  important part of the project development.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And what does

          7  EDC do to ensure that there is MWBE participation

          8  and outreach? Do you do your own direct outreach, or

          9  do you do your outreach to SBS?

         10                 MS. KIM: We do both through SBS, as

         11  well, you know, we do direct outreach as well. We

         12  advertise and interview publications, we make sure

         13  our goals are known, and we also, you know, we also

         14  reach out to Minority and Women business communities

         15  so they understand EDC is available, and we're

         16  definitely interested in working with MWBEs.

         17                 And we also participate in

         18  conferences, we have networking events, and I go

         19  talk to MWBE business organizations on a regular

         20  basis.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. That

         22  sounds encouraging. And do you do your own in-house

         23  programs to help finance MWBEs that need financing

         24  with these projects?

         25                 MS. KIM: We understand there are many

                                                            63

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  needs the MWBEs may face in terms of growing and

          3  expanding their businesses, but that's definitely

          4  one of the aspects we're looking at. We're

          5  definitely looking at various different capacity

          6  building and technical assistance programs, and one

          7  of the things we're definitely looking at is

          8  financing. We don't have a program in place yet, but

          9  we are meeting with, whether it's training providers

         10  or organizations who could help us meet those needs.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So you don't

         12  have the capacity building or financing programs in

         13  place yet?

         14                 MS. KIM: Not yet.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you're

         16  working on having that done within the next?

         17                 MS. KIM: Hopefully within the next

         18  fiscal year we'll have something in place.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

         20  right, thank you.

         21                 Just a couple of pieces of

         22  information. I mentioned the Court House Project

         23  earlier, and I want to appeal to President Lieber to

         24  talk to the Department of Homeless Services, who has

         25  decided in their infinite wisdom to put up a
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          2  non-screening singles, family or couples shelter one

          3  block away from the Court House Project, which is

          4  definitely going to impact on the developer's

          5  ability to market that project, if we're dealing

          6  with a non-screening shelter less than a block away.

          7  You know, you could take a stone and hit the shelter

          8  from the Court House project. So, you know, we're

          9  going to be working as a set of elected officials,

         10  because the Department of Homeless Services will

         11  drop this on us after promising, after the developer

         12  had indicated that he was going to build market rate

         13  housing, they swooped in and grabbed this location

         14  right at 90th Avenue and 165st Street, which is I

         15  said less than a block away from the Court House,

         16  and I need to get a multi-agency task force to get

         17  after the Department of Homeless Services to move

         18  that out way before the Court House is in

         19  completion, recognizing that they are just going to

         20  start construction in spring, but that's a major

         21  economic boost to Parsons Boulevard/Downtown Jamaica

         22  area, and I just don't want to have that shelter in

         23  place to interfere with the marketing aspects and

         24  creating a new economic engine in that area. You

         25  know, I realize it's not your fault the Department
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          2  of Homeless Services went behind all of our backs

          3  and put that in, but that's going to hurt our

          4  economic base and hurt the developer's base and

          5  scare away other developers if the Department of

          6  Homeless services is going around and looking at

          7  other properties in our economic engine area and

          8  taking them and putting in non-economic uses for

          9  them.

         10                 So, I want to ask you to appeal to

         11  that.

         12                 MR. LIEBER: We'll look into that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I also want to

         14  second the issues from Councilman Simcha Felder

         15  regarding the EDC's ability to move out projects,

         16  especially in non-City-owned buildings. The time

         17  that it takes to move these particular projects, we

         18  need your help to either triple your staff or to

         19  look at all of the technical ramifications behind

         20  why it takes three and a half years to move a

         21  project.

         22                 You know, we don't have three and a

         23  half years left, unfortunately. Although, I'd like

         24  to personally change that and get rid of term

         25  limits, but that's my own personal desire. And in
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          2  light of the fact that I understand we have 192

          3  projects in your shop and growing and other projects

          4  that we really need to get on track. And I hope that

          5  between now and the adoption of the Executive

          6  Budget, you know, we could get a commitment to get

          7  some more personnel that can work on whatever the

          8  complexities of these particular projects are?

          9                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I want to

         10  understand what is keeping those projects moving

         11  forward. I don't know that it's personnel, I don't

         12  know what it is, but we'll look into it and there is

         13  no reason this can't get moved along.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: It's not just

         15  personnel, it's just part of it is the ability of

         16  the City to work with private entities that are

         17  doing projects that are actually going to be totally

         18  City projects in that entity, and the ability to get

         19  covenants and to get access and to get all of the

         20  three different sets of lawyers in one room at the

         21  same time creates problems.

         22                 But I think one of the things that we

         23  need to think about is maybe EDC being the warehouse

         24  and staffing up so that we can get this done jointly

         25  without having to go through three different sets,
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          2  going through OMB, going through three different

          3  sets of agencies to get a project done. So, you

          4  know, I know they brought you in because you are

          5  well renown and I'm just adding more to your

          6  portfolio, and I hear you can do it.

          7                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you. We will get

          8  after it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: All right.

         10                 Just two others. Willets Point, I

         11  appreciate the Mayor's grand vision for Willets

         12  Point, but I'm concerned that there hasn't been a

         13  really grand vision to ensure that there is

         14  opportunities for real relocation for those

         15  businesses that are there. You know, I would dare

         16  say that they are getting, they're being under the

         17  impetus of why this country was founded, because

         18  they're paying taxation without representation. And

         19  I think that if there is a grand plan for

         20  development, there needs to be an even grander and

         21  more active plan for relocation assistance, and I

         22  understand you're saying that the Mayor just

         23  articulated the vision and the vision was developed

         24  and now we have, you know, people that are ready to

         25  move on it, but there has actually been for the last
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          2  two years an RFQ and other preplanning stages and

          3  during all this time there has been no dedicated

          4  effort that I could see to either show other

          5  locations to put these businesses that are paying

          6  taxes and are contributing to our economy,

          7  businesses that are actually City-owned contracts

          8  that are in that location, businesses that are

          9  City-based businesses with years of history in

         10  there. So, we need to make sure if there is a grand

         11  vision, that there really is a grand effort and an

         12  all-encompassing effort to try to work on relocation

         13  for those individuals. And I hope that the City

         14  steps up their effort to get that done.

         15                 The last thing that I really wanted

         16  to talk about was -- well, no, actually Council

         17  Member White gave me an extra thing, but the

         18  Willoughby Square Underground Railroad, you know, I

         19  held that hearing in the Land Use Subcommittee to

         20  hear the report. It was a five and a half hour

         21  hearing, and I do echo your concern and I just want

         22  to reemphasize I think that we really need to do

         23  something in that area, or in the City in general to

         24  show the history and everything that has been done

         25  regarding the underground railroad.
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          2                 I think that we could do, achieve all

          3  of the goals that everyone there has stated if we

          4  can work a little hard to make that happen to have

          5  some kind of preservation on the site, to have some

          6  kind of acknowledgment by all of the cultural groups

          7  in Brooklyn. I can tell you that I represent

          8  Adeslaide Park (phonetic), which is one of the stops

          9  on the Jazz Trail Tour, that is held by Flushing

         10  Town Hall, which they're not getting enough funding

         11  for. They need more funding. But they are having a

         12  regular set of people that go on a bus and move

         13  around on the Jazz Trail. I'm sure if we had a

         14  similar type of opportunity to create an educational

         15  tour or a set of, even a museum to talk about, or a

         16  location, not a big museum, but, you know, some kind

         17  of location -- I'm just teasing, Council Member

         18  James at the moment. But we need to ensure that

         19  there is some type of effort on the City, hopefully

         20  that's at least some development scoped out between

         21  now and the adoption of this budget, a three-point

         22  process to get that done.

         23                 And I hope that whatever is done,

         24  that we can ensure that all the stakeholders and all

         25  of the community stakeholders, all the business
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          2  stakeholders in the City can be part of that.

          3                 We have areas in the City that have

          4  already been documented and proven to be active

          5  participants in the underground railroad, we have

          6  other locations that we can ensure is part of that

          7  history and is part of some way to show that history

          8  on a regular basis. And I think that it would

          9  increase our tourism, it would increase

         10  opportunities to show that we, as a City, have

         11  adopted and engaged and embraced all of our history.

         12  And I'll just leave that. You don't have to respond

         13  to that now, because Council Member White gave me

         14  one other thing that I need to talk about, and that

         15  is the Jamaica Station and Airport Access Project.

         16  So, I'd hate to end on a parochial point, but I do

         17  need to know where are we with that particular

         18  project, as far as is it going to be able to meet

         19  the timing of the federal dollars that have been

         20  matched for it?

         21                 MR. LIEBER: Are you referring to the

         22  rezoning that's taking place?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: No, not the

         24  rezoning. The Jamaica Station and Airport Access,

         25  that has actually been voted by the community board
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          2  and that's moving through the process.

          3                 MR. LIEBER: Okay.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: The Downtown

          5  Jamaica piece, that's a whole other can of worms

          6  that we won't go into today. But the airport access

          7  is the Archer Avenue reconstruction and the ability

          8  to ensure that the area around the Air Train is

          9  given a better opportunity for transportation.

         10                 MR. LIEBER: Right.

         11                 I don't have the specifics of that

         12  right now. Let me look.

         13                 Doug, do you want to? We will get you

         14  that specific information.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

         16  right, I just want to make sure that that stays on

         17  line and coordinated with the other efforts that are

         18  being done.

         19                 I hope that, since you brought up the

         20  Jamaica Downtown rezoning, that EDC can work with my

         21  office and the other Council members to ensure that

         22  at the end of the day, that is a plan that

         23  encompasses what is needed, versus what's not

         24  needed. There's a lot of things that are

         25  unfortunately not needed that were thrown into the
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          2  plan also, and I hope to be actually meeting with

          3  all of the City agencies as well, because if we're

          4  going to talk about rezoning in Downtown Jamaica, we

          5  need to talk about congestion, we need to talk about

          6  parking, we need to talk about improving the subways

          7  in that area as well, because the elevators in both

          8  Sutphin Boulevard and especially Parsons Archer

          9  (phonetic) break on a regular basis. My constituents

         10  are always after me about that. It is an MTA

         11  project, but, you know, sometimes EDC pushing MTA

         12  can work wonders, as it has in other areas.

         13                 So, with that, I think I have done

         14  everything that I needed to do at this particular

         15  point, and I appreciate your listening and I hope to

         16  have a meeting with you to follow-up on these issues

         17  quickly.

         18                 MR. LIEBER: I'm happy to do that.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Let me just ask my

         23  colleagues, in the interest of not expediency, but

         24  consideration of time, that the previous Committee

         25  meeting really ran substantially over, and we're
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          2  going to try to put this back as best we can on

          3  track, so if you can bear with us, Mr. President, I

          4  would like to ask my colleagues to be brief, not

          5  more than five minutes.

          6                 Sears, McMahon, Brewer, James and

          7  Co-Chair Yassky, in that order.

          8                 Council Member Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         10  much, Mr. Chair.

         11                 Welcome, President Lieber.

         12                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And

         14  congratulations and I think you will do very well. I

         15  will be very short, very brief, and directly to the

         16  point. Seaport. Are you involved with what will

         17  happen with the Seaport? I understand the sale has

         18  taken place or is about to, since the City was

         19  involved at the Raus Company (phonetic) at the

         20  beginning?

         21                 MR. LIEBER: Oh, the South Street

         22  Seaport?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: Am I involved? Well --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I mean your
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          2  agency.

          3                 MR. LIEBER: We meet regularly with

          4  the owners of South Street Seaport General Growth

          5  properties (phonetic). We have, I believe it's

          6  biweekly phone calls and meetings with them. We were

          7  actually talking about this outside before we came

          8  in as well. The owner of the property is, we're not

          9  getting as much progress or attraction from them as

         10  we had thought we were going to. We've had ongoing

         11  dialogues with them. They have had a meeting, as I

         12  understand it, with the Community Board, but we have

         13  not seen the progress developing with that project

         14  as, frankly, I personally would have hoped. I think

         15  it's an important asset for what we have and I think

         16  it's an important part of what we're trying to do in

         17  Lower Manhattan, and I'm actually going to be in

         18  Chicago tomorrow and hope to see the Chairman of

         19  General Growth and ask him personally what is

         20  exactly going on.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, the City

         22  invested a lot of money in that. Do they partake in

         23  the sale of it, or do they reinvest more money?

         24                 MR. LIEBER: Who is that, the City?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.
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          2                 MR. LIEBER: The City will participate

          3  in that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: What's slowing

          5  down, since we like to be on a fast track with our

          6  development, because it creates so many jobs and

          7  revenue?

          8                 MR. LIEBER: It is a complicated

          9  project. There are a lot of different constituents

         10  who have an interest in the development of that

         11  project and I think very simply for General Growth

         12  properties, they're trying to figure out how they

         13  generate the best risk adjusted return for the

         14  capital dollars they're looking to invest in the

         15  project. And, you know, it needs a number of -- as

         16  I've heard it and described from GGP, they, you

         17  know, they want certain things from the City, the

         18  City is going to want certain things back in return.

         19  There are cultural institutions, there's museums,

         20  there's a number of different aspects to that,

         21  including some of the contemplated developments that

         22  are being discussed for, you know, 40-story

         23  buildings. So, I think from General Growth

         24  Properties, I mean I've known this company a long

         25  time, they're very, very skillful, they're very,
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          2  very knowledgeable in the retailing business. This

          3  is a project that I think represents, as least as

          4  was told to me, represents an important part of

          5  their growth strategy going forward, but it's

          6  complicated because it's not just a straightforward

          7  retailing-type venture.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand

          9  that. Thank you.

         10                 A question on the garage in Long

         11  Island City. You mentioned that you were going to do

         12  some office space; are you building above the

         13  garage? Adjacent to it? If you can just say what the

         14  monies, what they're going to do to invest again?

         15                 MR. PINSKY: Yes, the plan is to

         16  demolish the existing garage and to build new office

         17  space on the site of the garage. There is a

         18  requirement in the long-term lease with Tischman

         19  Spire for them to replace the parking at the site in

         20  new parking facilities, and so then the office,

         21  there will be retail on the ground floor and then

         22  office space above. And the City's money would go

         23  towards the fit out of the space that the City is

         24  going to occupy in that tower.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are they going
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          2  to have as many garage spaces as they do now?

          3  Because they certainly will need the space for the

          4  office buildings that they're going to be building?

          5                 MR. PINSKY: Yes, there is a study

          6  that I'm not sure if it's completed yet, it's close

          7  to being completed, detailing exactly what the

          8  parking needs of the area are, and the requirement

          9  will be that this development meet those needs.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: The garage is

         11  always filled, one. There's hardly ever any empty

         12  space in it.

         13                 MR. PINSKY: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: The reason that

         15  I ask that, because if they don't replace what's

         16  existing, in addition to what they will be building,

         17  I can assure you that all of the neighboring areas

         18  in the communities will have all those cars. So, I

         19  think that you will have to look at that and that's

         20  a big consideration.

         21                 MR. PINSKY: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So if you can

         23  keep abreast of that --

         24                 MR. PINSKY: Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: The last
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          2  question is Willets Point, which you've talked

          3  about. My question is, is there a committee that has

          4  been formed or was formed a long time ago? And if

          5  you can explain, do they work with you? Do they have

          6  specific responsibilities? Is it something that's

          7  going to expedite the process or slow it down?

          8  Knowing when we get a lot of committees involved.

          9                 MR. LIEBER: Well, if it's a committee

         10  that hopefully we're working with, it's to expedite

         11  the process, not slow it down.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And what are

         13  their responsibilities, as it relates to what you do

         14  with your agency?

         15                 MR. LIEBER: There is a task force and

         16  a committed which has been formed, and that is

         17  basically to make sure we get the right outreach and

         18  get the input that we can, both from the community

         19  and from the employers and from the citizens, all

         20  with the goal of trying to make sure we get a good

         21  view as to what are the issues and to develop a plan

         22  which addresses those issues.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And the final

         24  one as it relates to Willets Point, have those that

         25  are going to help develop it, has that process been
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          2  completed from the long to a short list, and then

          3  ultimately to the selection?

          4                 MR. LIEBER: No, it has not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How long do you

          6  think that's going to take?

          7                 MR. LIEBER: We have completed what we

          8  call a RFEI Request for Expressions of Interest. We

          9  were very pleased by the number of responses that we

         10  received, as well as by the quality of the

         11  participants that we received those responses from,

         12  which confirmed to us that there actually is a

         13  market, a vibrant market, a robust market, if you

         14  will, to redevelop that site.

         15                 What we need to do is we need to

         16  actually -- it's the professional advice that we've

         17  received. That property itself is not suitable to be

         18  redeveloped until the entire site has been cleared.

         19  Because of groundwater, table, groundwater

         20  contamination in the overall water table which

         21  exists out there, in order to do an appropriate

         22  remediation of the site means that we need to clear

         23  all the properties that are there today.

         24                 So, I would hope that by 2009,

         25  because I'm an internal optimist, 2010 because I'm a
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          2  little more practical, that we would actually be

          3  able to begin the development and construction out

          4  there. And we will to back out, once we've got the

          5  site pretty well under control in terms of the

          6  remediation, we want to know what the cost in the

          7  process is going to be, then we'll go back out to

          8  the people who responded to our RFEI and ask them

          9  for a more specific proposal, and whether we have

         10  one or two rounds of a Request for Proposals will be

         11  something that we determine as we get a little

         12  closer.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Council Member

         17  McMahon.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chairman, and thank you for your continued

         20  effective leadership of this Committee. I'll be

         21  brief.

         22                 Mr. Lieber, I represent Staten

         23  Island, and in your presentation there is one

         24  mention of Staten Island, Home Port, which is a

         25  worthwhile project but I think the people of Staten

                                                            81

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  Island are very frustrated. Maybe you could disabuse

          3  me of the notion that Staten Islanders have that

          4  we're very underserved in the area of economic

          5  development, and the attendant community renewal

          6  that comes with that by the City.

          7                 I've tried to get an economic

          8  development coordinator delegated or appointed or

          9  hired by Deputy Mayor Doctoroff and your

         10  predecessor, to deal with the fact that we have, I

         11  mean on the northern coast we have a waterfront that

         12  anyone who goes down the Richmond Terrace says, my

         13  God, what a waste of magnificent waterfront space,

         14  car repair shops and a scenario very similar to the

         15  one that you described with Willets Point, yet we

         16  can get no planning, no leadership, no initiative to

         17  deal with that area.

         18                 We have a Downtown area that's

         19  really, some say is on the precipice of development,

         20  and some say it's hampered by outdated zoning and

         21  use conditions that are there now. We can get no one

         22  to come in and grab the issue by the horns. I've

         23  asked Deputy Mayor Doctoroff, at the last two

         24  hearings, he said he would come to take a tour and

         25  look at the sites and see if we can't have a more
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          2  comprehensive approach to dealing with the planning

          3  for Staten Island, and I know the Home Port, and I

          4  know the railroad going over to New Jersey will move

          5  some freight, but that's not really what I'm talking

          6  about here.

          7                 And the Home Port is one project, it

          8  is $50 million, and yet you talk about a budget of

          9  close to $2 billion in capital management. So,

         10  before I keel over from the exasperation of my

         11  frustration, if you could disabuse me of perhaps the

         12  false notion that I entertain.

         13                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I don't want to try

         14  and disabuse you of anything. I will tell you that

         15  personally I've been to Staten Island more than I've

         16  been to any of the other boroughs since I've been in

         17  this job. I've had seven trips out there on

         18  different projects, first to understand what we're

         19  doing, to look at the business opportunities, make

         20  myself more familiar with what is going on, whether

         21  it be, you know, Farm Colony or Seaview or we

         22  started the West Shore Study and the North Shore

         23  Study, Home Port, Lighthouse, Howland Hook. We're

         24  looking at the prospects around the old GATX site

         25  there as well, in terms of trying to understand what
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          2  we can do to help encourage responsible development

          3  of those types of sites. So, I don't mean to

          4  disabuse you --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: No, I want

          6  you to. In this case I think that I want you to,

          7  because let's focus on the GATX property. I mean,

          8  that's 675, close to 700 acres of vacant land, the

          9  largest vacant land site in the City of New York. I

         10  can't help but feeling that if that land were

         11  located in any of the other four boroughs, that the

         12  City would be much more aggressive in dealing with

         13  the planning for the future use of that site. And in

         14  fact, probably moving forward to purchase that site.

         15  If you want to talk about sustainability, if you

         16  want to talk about -- and, again, I know you're

         17  relatively new on the job, so my frustration is not

         18  pointed at you directly.

         19                 MR. LIEBER: No, I understand.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But if that

         21  land existed anywhere else in the five, in the other

         22  four boroughs, and if you want to talk about

         23  sustainability and talking about the opportunities

         24  that that land presents for economic development,

         25  for public beneficial use, for open space

                                                            84

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  preservation, that the City has rebuffed my

          3  entreaties to get involved and work together with

          4  the Port Authority to purchase that land than rather

          5  let it be dictated by the private market, I think my

          6  colleagues would not believe that that could happen.

          7  We're talking about all the other projects that we

          8  talk about in this City and the numerous ones in the

          9  other boroughs and here is an opportunity to do real

         10  economic development and real planning and yet I'm

         11  told that the City is not interested.

         12                 Is the City interested? And if so, to

         13  what extent?

         14                 MR. LIEBER: Well, we have received a

         15  phone call from an advisor representing the current

         16  owners of that site. We are scheduled to meet with

         17  that advisor next week.

         18                 We have discussed this with the Port

         19  Authority, looking at in the context, that is the

         20  site as you talk about from sustainability from the

         21  little I know about it, but includes remediation,

         22  includes wetlands, includes uplands that are all

         23  important assets and I think it does represent an

         24  important economic development opportunity for all

         25  of New York City but Staten Island in particular.
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          2  And whether, you know, what's the appropriate way

          3  for the City to be involved, and participate in that

          4  is something that we're looking into now.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, that's

          6  something that I think would you agree with me that

          7  that interest is something that the Council Member

          8  should be advised of, and we have a letter signed by

          9  the three of us to Deputy Mayor Doctoroff on that

         10  issue that we've never gotten a response to. So, if

         11  I am uninformed, as opposed to misinformed, I don't

         12  know if I'm guilty, because if there is interest, if

         13  there are discussions, why are we not advised and

         14  why are we not part of it?

         15                 MR. LIEBER: Only because I wouldn't

         16  know what to tell you, except I received a phone

         17  call from the broker saying we'd like to come talk

         18  to you, and I said, great, let's put it on the

         19  schedule. I have no idea what they're contemplating

         20  doing, I have no idea what their plan is, I have no

         21  idea what their objectives are. So, I'll be happy to

         22  call you right after the meeting, tell you what I

         23  learned.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: But even that

         25  seems a little passive to me. Shouldn't the City be
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          2  very proactively looking at this property and trying

          3  to be an active partner or leader or principal, sole

          4  principal of what happens in the future with that

          5  property? I'm still a little disappointed I guess

          6  that the City is saying, for the reasons you stated,

          7  let's grab this bull by the horn and be aggressive

          8  on this.

          9                 MR. LIEBER: We don't own the

         10  property.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, I

         12  understand.

         13                 MR. LIEBER: It's hard to do something

         14  with a property that you don't own, and we're open

         15  to hear from the brokers on what they want to do and

         16  the owner, and we're happy to talk to them and see

         17  what role the City might be able to play. It's

         18  obviously an important site.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Does the City

         20  own all of the property in Willets Point?

         21                 Does the City own all of the property

         22  at Atlantic Yards?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Does the City

         24  own all the property in Greenpoint Williamsburg?

         25                 Does the City own all of the property
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          2  in Hunts Market? Hudson Yards? The City doesn't own

          3  all the property in Hudson Yards.

          4                 MR. LIEBER: We've just had the first

          5  inquiry, Council Member. The inquiry came to me a

          6  week ago. Now the broker, we're talking about what

          7  we're going to do, so we're trying to do it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: It's not the

          9  first inquiry, because the Council member has been

         10  making inquiries.

         11                 MR. LIEBER: I'm sorry, that's the

         12  first inquiry I've had or been aware of, it came to

         13  me a week ago, and we scheduled a meeting to

         14  follow-up. And I'd be happy to give you the detail

         15  and the back drop of any discussions that we have or

         16  roles that we think that EDC can play. You know, I

         17  can't speak for the Port Authority, but it's a big

         18  property, there's a lot of interesting potential

         19  with that site. It's owned by another private party,

         20  single owners, as I understand it, and we're trying

         21  to figure out if there's something we can do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: In your

         23  business to Staten Island, would you be willing to

         24  come with me and look at some of the sites that I'm

         25  speaking about?
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          2                 MR. LIEBER: Absolutely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: So that we

          4  could brainstorm on how we could get the City

          5  involved in those?

          6                 MR. LIEBER: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         10                 Council Member Brewer. And if I could

         11  just remind our colleagues that we're about two

         12  hours behind schedule, so if you could kind of be

         13  concise. And this is no reflection on Council Member

         14  Brewer, because I know she's been waiting eagerly.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, I have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         17  Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         19  Thank you for your presentation. I represent the

         20  West Side of Manhattan, most of the Hudson Yards.

         21                 And three quick questions. One is,

         22  how do you decide which projects you're going to

         23  work on? And one that's not on your list but is of

         24  tremendous concern, from 48th Street to 60th Street

         25  along 11th Avenue there are many auto dealerships
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          2  and come to our attention, no surprise to you that

          3  because of the incredible real estate bonanza going

          4  there, a lot of them have rents now, looking at

          5  rents that they can't afford, there are 500 UAW jobs

          6  that are obviously well paid. So, how does one

          7  begin? And, again, not to be finished here in

          8  discussion, but how does one begin a dialogue

          9  regarding making that a special auto dealership,

         10  service dealership area? Would that be something

         11  that EDC could focus on?

         12                 MR. LIEBER: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, we

         14  will contact you about that.

         15                 Second, when you say the greening of

         16  the buildings, I know this is a longer discussion. I

         17  was at the Plan 2030 at the museum, and I think I

         18  read the project and Rit (phonetic) and I have been

         19  on panels together, so I'm familiar with it, but on

         20  the greening portion, which is very important, does

         21  that include residential and commercial buildings?

         22  And if schools want to be greened, is that under

         23  your purview, DOE or some joint partnership?

         24                 MR. LIEBER: We would not be involved

         25  in the school activity.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, and is

          3  the greening commercial or also residential from

          4  your perspective?

          5                 MR. LIEBER: Well, we would focus on

          6  the commercial, not the residential. But to me,

          7  greening is one of those words that should apply to

          8  all of what we're trying to do.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         10                 And the brownfields, we have a

         11  building, one left, was a substation. You can

         12  imagine there is a lot of challenges in terms of the

         13  environment; is that something that a residential

         14  building that has a brownfield issue would come to

         15  you? Obviously they would work with the state? What

         16  is the brownfield challenge, in terms of just where

         17  does one go?

         18                 MR. LIEBER: I mean, what I would

         19  encourage is to come to us first and let us assess

         20  exactly what it is and what we can do. And if it's

         21  not for us, we'll get it to the right people.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And are

         23  you still working on the issue of the Sanitation

         24  Plan vis-a-vis the commercial space at 59th Street

         25  and Hudson River Park, or is that more Department of
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          2  Sanitation?

          3                 MR. LIEBER: It's more Department of

          4  Sanitation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

          6                 And there was an indication, not in

          7  your testimony, but in the plan or the material put

          8  together by the staff at the City Council about

          9  energy planning and the notion, I think correctly,

         10  that we need to do more of it. I chair the

         11  Technology Committee, and there's been a lot of

         12  discussion of trying to come up with some

         13  alternative to Con Ed in terms of looking at smart

         14  meters and as you suggest times when there are peak

         15  times and off peak in terms of using electrical; is

         16  that something that you're looking at, or is that

         17  more DEP?

         18                 MR. LIEBER: Well, we have an energy

         19  component. It's very integral to what we do, so

         20  we're looking at all the different ways that you can

         21  encourage more efficient use of energy, whether it

         22  be power meters or other things, what's practical.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right. So,

         24  we should get you some legislation on that.

         25                 And then just finally, how much of
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          2  your budget I guess is more expense is on budget and

          3  off budget? You're sort of a unique agency in that

          4  sense, so what's the percentage staff-wise?

          5                 MR. PINSKY: We actually do not

          6  receive any tax levy that supports our staff.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So there is no

          8  tax levy.

          9                 MR. PINSKY: That's correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         11  you.

         12                 So, we will be in touch, as we have

         13  with the Deputy Mayor regarding the auto dealers,

         14  because time is of the essence.

         15                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, the next

         20  questioner will be Council Member Tish James, but

         21  she should know that while she was out there was

         22  extensive questioning on Hudson Yards so she will

         23  not be able to ask questions on that subject.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: As long as it's

         25  on Hudson Yards.

                                                            93

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Just kidding.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: As long as it's

          4  on Hudson Yards, that's fine.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: On Atlantic

          6  Yards, excuse me.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: That's okay.

          8                 Mr. Lieber, in your testimony you

          9  indicated that for Downtown Brooklyn there is $82

         10  million in this year's budget, yes?

         11                 MR. LIEBER: Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And is it my

         13  understand that there's a total of $97 million in

         14  the capital budget from 2006 to 2011 for the

         15  Downtown Brooklyn? And what does the $82 million

         16  represent?

         17                 MR. LIEBER: Let me check to see if we

         18  have the breakdown.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         20                 MR. JONES: Hello. Tom Jones, EDC's

         21  Budget Director.

         22                 I apologize, we don't have that

         23  breakdown here, but it's definitely something that

         24  we can break down and we have it broken down, and I

         25  think our expert project manager would probably be
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          2  the best to convey that information.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: If you can get

          4  that information to me, that would be greatly

          5  appreciated.

          6                 MR. JONES: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in that

          8  amount, that $82 million, of the $97 million from

          9  2006 to 2011, is any of that money going to be used

         10  for the acquisition and/or condemnation of those

         11  homes which individuals claim were part of the

         12  Underground Railroad?

         13                 MR. JONES: Just by my knowledge, the

         14  only acquisition that I'm aware of at this point is

         15  roughly $60 million for Willoughby Square.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just for

         17  Lincoln Square did you say?

         18                 MR. JONES: Willoughby Square.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Willoughby

         20  Square.

         21                 And are any of the homes that were

         22  alleged to be part of the Underground Railroad as

         23  part of the development of Willoughby Square?

         24                 MR. JONES: We'll have to get back to

         25  you on that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 Moving on to BAM, I understand the

          5  North site, the RFP was issued and when is that RFP

          6  on the North site, what's the deadline for it? The

          7  response time, the cutoff date? Does anyone know?

          8                 MR. LIEBER: I don't have that. Sorry,

          9  that's one of those we can get back to you on.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay, thank

         11  you. And for the north site, is there funds in the

         12  -- excuse me, as far as the development of the BAM

         13  LDC Cultural District, is there funds in the plan

         14  for the acquisition or the renovation of the --

         15  what's the name of that building? I'm drawing a

         16  blank. Give me one moment. The Strand Theater?

         17                 MR. LIEBER: We'll come back to you on

         18  that one as well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         20                 And are there funds in, and the

         21  amount of money for the BAM LDC, are there funds in

         22  the budget for the Tifana Theater (phonetic) for a

         23  new audience, for the construction of that site?

         24                 MR. JONES: Right now it's

         25  contemplated that there is about $30 million towards
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          2  that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: For Tifana?

          4                 MR. JONES: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And it's my

          6  understanding, according to an article I believe in

          7  the Sun or the New York Times, I believe it was in

          8  the New York Times, right now the library, the

          9  Henrique Norton Library is on hold; is that correct?

         10                 MR. JONES: I'm not aware.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         12                 And are there any plans as of right

         13  now for the East site, the West site and the South

         14  site? Right now the only RFP on the street is the

         15  North site; any plans as of yet for these other

         16  sites as part of the BAM LDC? And if so, what are

         17  the plans?

         18                 MR. JONES: I think, just based on

         19  your questions, not to put them off by any means,

         20  but I think we can give you a very comprehensive

         21  presentation separately, if that's okay with you?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: That would be

         23  helpful. That would be very helpful.

         24                 And also in the North site, I mean in

         25  the BAM LDC, are there any funds for the BAM Harvey,
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          2  as well?

          3                 MR. JONES: That I'm not aware of.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

          5  Okie-dokie.

          6                 I'm moving on to my favorite subject,

          7  Atlantic Yards. It's my understanding that there is

          8  $105 million in this year's budget for the following

          9  agencies and for the following projects, as related

         10  to development, the proposed development of Atlantic

         11  Yards, which is not a done deal?

         12                 First, $7 million for the Sixth

         13  Avenue overpass to DOT, yes?

         14                 MR. JONES: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: We're

         16  anticipating a bridge, a walkway?

         17                 MR. PINSKY: As we had mentioned

         18  before when we testified three months ago, as far as

         19  we understand, yes, these are improvements around

         20  the project. They are being done by other agencies,

         21  not particularly EDC. On those particular forecasts,

         22  we don't have any update on what the agencies are

         23  doing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You don't have

         25  any particulars. So, no particulars with respect to
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          2  allegedly, as part of the $105 million, $12 million

          3  to DOT for an Atlantic Avenue retaining wall,

          4  acceleration, no details, yes? No details to DOT $7

          5  million for a Carlton Avenue overpass? $750,000 to

          6  FDNY for decontamination facility relocation? No

          7  details regarding that? No?

          8                 MR. PINSKY: Well, as I said on the

          9  full 105 million --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No details.

         11                 And do you know whether --

         12                 MR. PINSKY: We don't have any

         13  additional details on what the agencies are doing

         14  with those forecasts.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Do you know

         16  whether as part of this decontamination facility

         17  relocation, is there any money for remediation of

         18  that site, if it's needed at all? No, no details,

         19  got it. I can see it from your face.

         20                 And/or $5 million to MTA, another $15

         21  million to DOT for infrastructure, another $30

         22  million for water mane improvement, another $28.45

         23  for Atlantic Avenue corridor. Do you know what that

         24  means, Atlantic Avenue corridor, is that traffic

         25  calming, or do you have any idea? You don't have any

                                                            99

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  idea, do you? No.

          3                 MR. PINSKY: You know I don't.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I know you

          5  don't. Totaling $105,201,000 to be exact.

          6                 The other $100 million, which is

          7  unspecified and is basically one big pot; what is

          8  that $100 million for? Does anyone have any idea?

          9                 MR. PINSKY: The $100 million will be

         10  exclusively for acquisition of land, to reimburse or

         11  pay for new acquisition of land for the project.

         12  None of it will go towards condemnation.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So this

         14  acquisition of properties that's located within a

         15  footprint which will be the subject of eminent

         16  domain, yes?

         17                 MR. PINSKY: The money, the $100

         18  million will not go to any property that's the

         19  subject of eminent domain.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, these are

         21  properties that you will acquire as a result of

         22  private negotiation?

         23                 MR. PINSKY: Correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: As far as you

         25  know, is there any funds in this for Atlantic Yards
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          2  related to traffic calming, traffic planning,

          3  parking permit study, or the implementation of a

          4  parking permit plan?

          5                 MR. PINSKY: Not within $100 million.

          6  $100 million is exclusively for the acquisition of

          7  land. It's possible that it's within that $105

          8  million --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And there was

         10  recently an article I believe in the Post, the

         11  Daily, one of the locals, which basically said the

         12  Borough of Brooklyn is the most under-greened, if

         13  that's a term, under-greened county, city in the

         14  entire nation. We have more asphalt than any other

         15  city or borough in the entire nation, the borough of

         16  Brooklyn. And with the addition, with the possible

         17  addition of Atlantic Yards, we will be further

         18  under-greened, if you will.

         19                 Any plans to provide funds for -- I

         20  know there are some proposals to green some of the

         21  buildings, any proposals with respect to more open

         22  space?

         23                 MR. PINSKY: Yes. The Atlantic Yards

         24  Plan requires Forest City Ratner to take what's now

         25  completely ungreen property and devote at least
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          2  eight acres to open space.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And do you know

          4  if these eight acres are public open space or are

          5  they private?

          6                 MR. PINSKY: No, they will be private.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And we're not

          8  talking about the space on top of the arena, which

          9  is primarily for residents of the luxury towers?

         10                 MR. PINSKY: Yes, I don't think counts

         11  towards that eight acres. I'm pretty confident.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         13                 And where are these eight acres going

         14  to be located within the 16 --

         15                 MR. PINSKY: Yes, they're within the

         16  site plan for the Atlantic Yards project.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         18                 Moving on to the WMBE office, and I'm

         19  sorry but I forgot your name?

         20                 MS. KIM: Bomi Kim.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Ms. Kim?

         22                 MS. KIM: Yes, Bomi Kim.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Ms. Kim, you

         24  are one officer. In the past I have suggested that

         25  there be additional staffing to address the needs
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          2  with respect to the enforcement of Local Law 129, in

          3  the executive law are you getting any additional

          4  staff to assist you, particularly in Downtown

          5  Brooklyn, Queens, I guess Willets Point, wherever

          6  there is major development projects; are you getting

          7  any help?

          8                 MS. KIM: As we develop the program

          9  and the program grows, we expect that we will be

         10  able to staff up.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So is there

         12  funds in the Executive Budget that allows you to

         13  staff up?

         14                 MS. KIM: That I would --

         15                 MR. PINSKY: As I had mentioned

         16  before, the City does not give us any tax levy to

         17  support our staff. So, no, there is actually never

         18  funds in the budget for EDC staff.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, let me just

         20  understand this.

         21                 MR. PINSKY: But why don't I just also

         22  add, as Bomi had mentioned, as she develops a need

         23  for more staff, we will absolutely react to that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Again, my

         25  position is that she's doing an excellent job and
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          2  she obviously needs more staff, and I believe we

          3  should not be centralized and really we should get

          4  out into the outer boroughs, particularly in

          5  boroughs where we have all of this development. So,

          6  you can be hands on and you can continue to

          7  investigate these companies who seek to be certified

          8  as MWBE's and who need to know more about the

          9  contracts.

         10                 Bonding continues to be a problem

         11  with MWBE. Is there a bonding program in place to

         12  assist companies with technical assistance, bonding

         13  insurance?

         14                 MS. KIM: EDC does not currently have

         15  a bonding program. But like I said, it would be part

         16  of the menu of the different technical and

         17  capacity-building workshops and trainings that we're

         18  looking at, so we definitely want to include that,

         19  because we understand it's a major issue for

         20  Minority and Women Owned Businesses. So, we are

         21  definitely looking at providing that kind of

         22  assistance.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Bridge loans as

         24  well?

         25                 MS. KIM: Like I said, there is a menu
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          2  of items, one of them being, you know, providing

          3  financial assistance, as well as making sure that

          4  they have access to capital, and also bonding and

          5  insurance will be a part of that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You mentioned

          7  earlier that $20 million went to MWBEs and prime

          8  contracts; what does that represent in total

          9  allocation?

         10                 MS. KIM: In terms of total projects?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Correct.

         12                 MS. KIM: That's about 20 percent?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Give me the

         14  total figure. How much money do we give to prime

         15  contracts in the City of New York?

         16                 MS. KIM: City of New York? I don't

         17  know. The projects that we are currently tracking

         18  within MWBE goals what was released was about $100

         19  million.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So right now

         21  MWBEs received $20 million of that $100 million?

         22                 MS. KIM: Twenty-seven million.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Twenty-seven

         24  million of $100 million in total?

         25                 MS. KIM: Right. Both on prime and
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          2  subcontracts.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Prime and

          4  subcontracts. And EDC is a private entity, and

          5  you're not subject to any local laws, correct,

          6  because you're a local development corporation?

          7                 MS. KIM: Correct. We are voluntarily

          8  following the Local Law 129. We're very committed to

          9  making sure we're meeting those goals.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you're not

         11  subject to the Procurement Board yet, right?

         12                 MS. KIM: No. But we do have our own

         13  procurement policies, and it's pretty rigorous, so

         14  we have to make sure --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you're not

         16  subject to Article 15A which is a State law which

         17  requires certain goals for MWBE?

         18                 MS. KIM: For the MWBE, we obviously,

         19  you know, try to meet whatever requirements are

         20  according to the City.

         21                 In terms of 15A, I believe we are

         22  subject to some of them based on the fact that we do

         23  get some State funding.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: State funding.

         25                 So, on all of your contracts for the
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          2  most part, it's pretty much voluntary, pretty much

          3  voluntary?

          4                 MS. KIM: Voluntary on the fact that

          5  we do it, or voluntary --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Voluntary that

          7  they have to comply.

          8                 MS. KIM: I mean, it's not voluntary

          9  for them to comply. I mean, they have to.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Voluntary that

         11  they engage in the program which seeks to increase

         12  the number of minority opportunities.

         13                 MS. KIM: Right.

         14                 I mean, all of our projects, when

         15  they get released with goals, that's not a voluntary

         16  project. If you are interested in working on our

         17  projects, you are now mandated or you are required

         18  to meet those goals.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So what goals

         20  do you have in place? Are they similar to goals in

         21  Local Law 129?

         22                 MS. KIM: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Same exact?

         24                 MS. KIM: Not same exact. Like I said,

         25  we have 20 different goals on professional services
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          2  -- I'm sorry 22 percent of professional services,

          3  and 20 percent on construction.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay. And if

          5  you could at some point in time break out of the 40

          6  percent of contracts on construction that went to

          7  MWBEs at some point in time, I would like to know

          8  how many went to women, how many went to minority,

          9  and what minorities, of the 60 percent for

         10  professional services under a million dollars, again

         11  a breakout in specifics?

         12                 MS. KIM: I can't break it down at

         13  this point on the professional work construction,

         14  but I can tell you that of the total number of MWBEs

         15  that were awarded on those contracts were 29 MWBEs.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         17                 MS. KIM: Of the 29, 31 percent were

         18  WBEs, and 69 percent were MBEs.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And how many

         20  went to women?

         21                 MS. KIM: Let's see. That's 31

         22  percent, it's nine.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And how many

         24  staff members do you have assigned to actually

         25  investigate companies to ensure in fact they are a

                                                            108

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  woman business and not a front?

          3                 MS. KIM: Well, we rely on New York

          4  City SBS's certified list. So, they are required

          5  when they come on our jobs to provide certification

          6  that shows that they have been certified. So we

          7  really on SBS to obviously make sure these are not

          8  fronts.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in terms of

         10  minority, we're talking about African-Americans,

         11  Latinos, Asians, so if you could break that down, I

         12  really would appreciate that.

         13                 MS. KIM: Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And I believe

         15  someone had asked you previously with respect to the

         16  labor force, that would be greatly appreciated.

         17                 MS. KIM: That we'll go back in and

         18  get.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council member,

         20  can you sum up? We're running two and a half hours

         21  late.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I believe that

         23  is my very last question, Mr. Chair.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.
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          2                 Council Member Yassky.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you. And

          4  I know, Mr. Chair, I appreciate the time, so I will

          5  ask just about two issues. One is Atlantic Yards,

          6  and the other is the Piers 7 through 12. So, I don't

          7  know who you need to bring up for those.

          8                 Atlantic Yards, the developer Forest

          9  City Ratner entered into a community benefits

         10  agreement with a number of other, you know,

         11  non-governmental organizations to which the Mayor I

         12  believe signed that as a witness, not a party but as

         13  a witness. Is there any money in the City's budget

         14  for implementing that community benefits agreement?

         15                 MR. PINSKY: No. All of the benefits

         16  under the community benefits agreement will be

         17  funded out of the projects' budget. The City,

         18  though, in connection with its $100 million

         19  contribution, will require that the project meet

         20  certain requirements. We're in the process of

         21  finalizing the documents for this, but those

         22  requirements will include open space, time and also

         23  affordable housing goals, as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Do you know

         25  how much the budget is for the community benefits,
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          2  the initiatives discussed in the community benefits

          3  agreement, which include job training, job

          4  placement, affordable housing, as you mentioned?

          5                 MR. PINKSY: I don't have that

          6  information.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Does EDC know

          8  that?

          9                 MR. PINSKY: We can get that for you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, that I

         11  would very much appreciate.

         12                 Did I understand you to say that a

         13  condition of the City funding will be that the

         14  community benefits agreement initiatives are funded

         15  in a way that you believe is --

         16                 MR. PINSKY: Not the entirety. There

         17  will be, certainly what we view as the overriding

         18  goals of the project will be required to be met, and

         19  to the extent that those goals aren't met, there

         20  will be penalties or --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But not

         22  everything in the community benefits agreement?

         23                 MR. PINSKY: I mean, the community

         24  benefits agreement was an agreement between Forest

         25  City and certain other groups, not the City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, I

          3  understand. Although it was referred to. I mean, if

          4  we were going to have a long hearing about it, I

          5  would read you the statements of City officials

          6  referring to the community benefits agreement as a

          7  selling --

          8                 MR. PINSKY: Yes, I mean we're

          9  supportive of it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- Selling

         11  point, and was really effectively adopted by the

         12  City.

         13                 MR. PINSKY: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Can you then

         15  provide us with what parts of community benefits

         16  agreement you regard as necessary to be funded and

         17  what you regard as not necessary?

         18                 MR. PINSKY: Yes. We're in the process

         19  of finalizing the funding agreement which will

         20  memorialize all of this. It's in the process of

         21  being negotiated, obviously. But as soon as that's

         22  available, we will absolutely make it available for

         23  you to examine.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Do you

         25  anticipate that providing that the proposed funding
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          2  agreement to elected officials, myself or other

          3  Council members prior to signing it?

          4                 MR. PINSKY: I can't promise that. I

          5  can't speak to that one way or another.

          6                 My guess is that we will complete

          7  negotiating, the negotiations with us and Forest

          8  City and then at that point, then we would be able

          9  to make it public, whether that's pre-signing or

         10  immediately post-signing, I'm not sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Mr. President,

         12  maybe this question is better directed to you. I

         13  mean, I guess I would request then, rather than me

         14  ask that question as I did, I would request that you

         15  do give myself, I don't know if other Committee

         16  members would be interested, but there may well be

         17  an opportunity to review the proposed funding

         18  agreement prior to taking in a binding agreement

         19  that binds the City. I think that at this point is

         20  the major kind of policy decision yet to be made by

         21  the City government with respect to that project.

         22  I'd ask that you not make that unilaterally, but

         23  give us the opportunity for input.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: I'm certainly willing to

         25  look into that. I don't know what I can commit to
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          2  sitting here today, but I understand your point.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. And

          6  Council Member Fidler had a brief comment.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: I'm sorry,

          8  that was just -- on Pier 7 through 12, and I can be

          9  very brief on this, I heard what you said before

         10  about the bring in another job-creating enterprise

         11  to those piers, which I think is terrific. I don't

         12  know if you were referring to it, but I know it has

         13  been discussed publicly for quite some time, Phoenix

         14  Beverages as a company looking to locate there. They

         15  have a real import operation, I thought that made a

         16  lot of sense.

         17                 You said, though, that you're running

         18  into problems because they're looking to locate on

         19  part that's already occupied by the existing tenant.

         20                 What about, have you considered

         21  locating them on Pier 11, which is at this point, if

         22  I'm correct, correct me if I'm wrong, under City

         23  control, or something you could just implement right

         24  away?

         25                 MR. LIEBER: Yes, we're considering
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          2  that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. Do you

          4  want to say more about whether you regard that as a

          5  good idea, bad idea?

          6                 MR. LIEBER: Well, I think what we're

          7  trying to do is take a what's the right thing to do

          8  here for the whole waterfront area there. From

          9  Sunset Park north through Red Hook and through Pier

         10  7 through 12, including Pier 6, which we don't

         11  really control, and so making sure that what is

         12  developed there today is something that is

         13  sustainable to use the buzz word now, longer term.

         14  And we think different operations are more

         15  appropriate on different piers. What you're

         16  describing, we don't want to lose the jobs, and if

         17  we need to provide an interim solution, which

         18  ensures that we keep the tenant, the prospective

         19  tenant here in New York City, we will do that. Even

         20  if we don't think that's the right thing to do

         21  longer term, but in order to do so to make sure we

         22  don't lose the jobs, we'll do it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: I don't think putting

         25  them on 11 is necessarily the right answer, but
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          2  we're absolutely going to look at that because we

          3  don't want to lose the jobs.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. And my

          5  final question, the Preliminary Budget hearing, I

          6  know there was, at that point there was $70 million

          7  in the Capital budget for Piers 7 through 12; does

          8  that remain? Is that still in your capital budget?

          9                 MR. LIEBER: Mm-hmm.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay, thank

         11  you.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         14  Council member. And a brief comment from Council

         15  Member Fidler.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Yes, and I

         17  will be brief. I think I would be remiss if I didn't

         18  say a word of praise and thanks. A number of my

         19  colleagues have, you know, been critical of perhaps

         20  their feeling that you were absent in their borough.

         21  I have noticed close to a billion dollars in EDC

         22  investment in Brooklyn in either our briefing paper

         23  or your testimony, whether it's the rebuilding of

         24  the bulkhead at Sheepshead Bay or Atlantic Yards or

         25  Downtown Brooklyn or BAM LDC, and I just want to say
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          2  thank you for that. I think it's truly going to be a

          3  wonderful thing for Brooklyn. I think you should

          4  move those projects along as quickly as you can.

          5                 I say that with all sincerity,

          6  notwithstanding my next comment, which is that you

          7  may be so successful in making Brooklyn such a

          8  wonderful place, that we might actually have to

          9  charge people from Manhattan $8 a car to come into

         10  Brooklyn. Of course, we wouldn't do that because

         11  those of us in Brooklyn don't really believe being

         12  economically discriminatory in keeping our streets

         13  only for people who can afford it. But I would just

         14  say that anyway. Thank you.

         15                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         17  Council member.

         18                 Before we adjourn this portion of the

         19  hearing, I promised Council Member Gerson, I know he

         20  has a staff member in the room, reminding me, that I

         21  just ask three quick questions, and if you don't

         22  have the answers, if you can provide them to Council

         23  Member Gerson. The first question is, what's the

         24  time line for the Fulton Street Fish Market? Second

         25  question, I'll give you all of them, second question
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          2  is the time line for the East River Waterfront

          3  Project, and the third is, he's interested in the

          4  ferry connection from Lower Manhattan to the

          5  Rockaways, what's the status of that? And is that a

          6  possibility in the future?

          7                 MR. LIEBER: Well, my understanding

          8  is, the test case of a ferry service to the

          9  Rockaways is something that was announced while we

         10  were sitting here today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Oh, wow. Hot off

         12  the press.

         13                 MR. LIEBER: Hot off the press. I was

         14  going to be in two places at once, we couldn't do

         15  it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Maybe that's

         17  where Council Member Gerson went.

         18                 MR. LIEBER: So that's underway.

         19                 The East River Esplanade is something

         20  that continues underway. And when you mentioned the

         21  Fulton Fish Market, I think that's already done.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, sounds good

         23  to me.

         24                 MR. LIEBER: The redevelopment of the

         25  site, that goes into the -- if it's the question
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          2  about the redevelopment of the Fulton Fish Market,

          3  those were my comments that one of the previous

          4  Council members asked me about, what is going on at

          5  South Street Seaport, I believe it's all part of the

          6  Seaport redevelopment project.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Well,

          8  President Lieber, I thank you for your patience and

          9  your offer of willing to sit down and communicate

         10  with Council members on individual projects, and I

         11  look forward to a good working relationship with

         12  this Committee.

         13                 MR. LIEBER: Thank you. We do as well.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         15                 The next portion of the hearing is

         16  jointly with the Committee on Economic Development,

         17  the Committee on Small Business, and the Select

         18  Committee on Community Development.

         19                 Council Member Yassky. Is

         20  Commissioner Walsh in the house? I know he was here

         21  for a long time, and he has been waiting patiently

         22  and I apologize for the delay of the hearing time,

         23  but just so you know, we've been working straight

         24  through since 10:00 this morning. So we haven't been

         25  sitting idly by on breaks, we've been working
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          2  straight through.

          3                 Commissioner Walsh, we're ready for

          4  you. I apologize for the delay. I know you were here

          5  earlier, and have been waiting around. We'll take

          6  you with or without a jacket.

          7                 Do you have prepared testimony?

          8  Proceed. See there is one advantage to going later

          9  in the day is that you have less questions from my

         10  colleagues and less colleagues to ask them.

         11                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Okay. Good

         12  afternoon, Chairman Weprin, Chairman Yassky,

         13  Councilman Lew Fidler. I'm Rob Walsh, Commissioner

         14  of the Department of Small Business Services. I'm

         15  joined here by the First Deputy Commissioner Andy

         16  Schwartz, and several members of the staff who are

         17  here to help answer any questions you might have.

         18                 What I want to do briefly is

         19  highlight some of the accomplishments over the past

         20  year, and I also want to speak about some of the new

         21  initiatives that are underway in the agency.

         22                 The most dramatic way that Small

         23  Business Services can build on success is by

         24  fundamentally changing the way business does

         25  business with the City of New York.  In partnership

                                                            120

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  with DoITT and several other agencies, SBS is

          3  developing an on-line service, New York City

          4  Business Express. It will save business owners time

          5  and money by enabling them to start, operate and

          6  expand a business through a single on-line point of

          7  contact. Through New York City Business Express

          8  entrepreneurs and business owners will apply for

          9  licenses and permits, learn about regulations, make

         10  payments, apply for incentives, and access resources

         11  to help them grow.

         12                 I would encourage you to take a look

         13  at New York City Business Express on-line at

         14  NYC.gov/businessexpress. As a start, we have made it

         15  easier and simpler for business owners to open a

         16  restaurant by providing an inventory of all the

         17  steps that they will need to take. But this isn't

         18  enough. Over the next three years we'll be working

         19  hard with multiple agencies on a regular basis,

         20  looking at the permits, examining internal

         21  operations and making a major investment to make it

         22  easiest as possible to do business in the City of

         23  New York.

         24                 New York City Business Express is one

         25  of the major, one of the new major initiatives of

                                                            121

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  the agency, and we continue to serve small

          3  businesses in so many other ways.

          4                 In September 2004, we introduced New

          5  York City Business Solutions as a cornerstone of our

          6  Business Assistance Program. To date we have served

          7  more than 31,000 businesses and responded to over

          8  51,000 service requests, and we've helped more than

          9  480 small businesses secure over $30 million in new

         10  financing from both non-profit and commercial

         11  lenders.

         12                 When the business owners walk through

         13  the door of one of our seven centers, visit our

         14  website, or call 3-1-1, they could get the help they

         15  need to start and grow their business.

         16                 Our business outreach team also

         17  canvases commercial neighborhoods to provide

         18  assistance to entrepreneurs in their place of

         19  business. Thanks to these efforts, business owners

         20  and entrepreneurs are accessing SBS business

         21  assistance more easily and more than ever before.

         22                 Also strengthening community-based

         23  organizations has served businesses throughout the

         24  City. Business Improvement Districts continue to

         25  grow. Over the past five years, we've created 11 new
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          2  BIDs, bringing the total number of BIDs in this City

          3  to 55. This past year we created two new BIDs in

          4  Flatbush Nostrand, and in the Fifth Avenue area of

          5  Bay Ridge.

          6                 BIDs contribute over $82 million

          7  annually in supplemental services such as

          8  sanitation, security and marketing. And we're

          9  expecting another half dozen BIDs to be submitted

         10  for your approval over the next year.

         11                 Our work in the City's neighborhoods

         12  goes beyond BIDs. We worked with many small local

         13  development corporations providing technical

         14  assistance and marketing assistance to build their

         15  organizational capacities.

         16                 And over the past year, we've asked

         17  larger borough-wide economic development groups to

         18  leverage their experience and help these smaller

         19  groups become more strategic, resourceful and

         20  creative.

         21                 This year we will launch New York

         22  City Clean Streets, which the Mayor introduced in

         23  the State of the City Address. This is a $1.6

         24  million initiative that will help keep the streets

         25  of our City's commercial corridors cleaner and more
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          2  attractive for residents and business owners.

          3                 Throughout this program, SBS will

          4  partner with neighborhood organizations to help them

          5  manage a supplementary sanitation program, but it's

          6  much more. This is an effort to create stronger

          7  neighborhood groups that will be able to work

          8  independently and manage their finances and

          9  services.

         10                 The Clean Streets program will help

         11  us grow these local organizations while creating

         12  cleaner, healthier and more vibrant climates for

         13  them to do business. In the coming months we will

         14  announce the first participants of New York City

         15  Clean Streets.

         16                 Last month, together with the Mayor's

         17  Office of Contract Services, we submitted the first

         18  preliminary report required by Local 129 to the City

         19  Council. We continue to work with individual

         20  agencies to help them increase the utilization of

         21  MWBEs and we're seeing a steady increase in the

         22  number of companies being certified.

         23                 To date there are a total of 1,170

         24  certified companies, up from 850 in 2004. SBS is on

         25  track to certify a record number of new MWBEs in
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          2  Fiscal 2007, and the number recertifications has

          3  tripled.

          4                 We're seeing these increases in

          5  numbers because we have shown them that there is a

          6  reason to become certified. The number of contracts

          7  that were awarded to certify companies that we

          8  worked with more than doubled this past year,

          9  resulting in more than $63 million in contracts for

         10  certified companies. Because of this success, it's

         11  never been more important to get the word out about

         12  our program. And in the past year we've done the

         13  following: We partnered with the Council on the MWBE

         14  Leadership Association Program that you established

         15  to work with 15 community-based organizations to get

         16  more eligible companies certified. These

         17  organizations increase our reach in the communities

         18  and allowed us to provide over 80 technical

         19  assistance workshops on issues ranging from how to

         20  certify, or how to do business with the City.

         21                 We've also sponsored 37 events, which

         22  were attended by over 5,000 participants that match

         23  buyers and sellers. We've also created Fundamentals

         24  in Construction Management program, it's a

         25  certificate program in partnership with CUNY's
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          2  College of Technology, which offers exclusively to

          3  New York City certified construction programs -- I'm

          4  sorry, construction firms, a host of programs taught

          5  by industry professionals to build the schools and

          6  capacities of these firms.

          7                 We've also built on our partnership

          8  with City Tech to offer one-on-one technical

          9  assistance in BID and proposal preparation. We've

         10  increased our marketing and outreach efforts. To

         11  give you a sense of the scope of our efforts to

         12  date, we've attended and presented at 145 events.

         13  We've run articles and advertisements in various

         14  newspapers throughout the City, and we will continue

         15  to do so.

         16                 We've also created and distributed a

         17  new MWBE program brochure and redesigned our website

         18  to provide a direct and easy link to our home page,

         19  and more recently, the on-line directory at

         20  NYC.gov/buycertified.

         21                 Shifting gears and talking about

         22  workforce development, SBS has transformed the Adult

         23  Workforce Development Program in New York City into

         24  a system that recruits trains and places New Yorkers

         25  in jobs with a focus on the City's strongest
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          2  employment sector.

          3                 In 2006, our Workforce 1 Career

          4  Centers placed more than 16,000 New Yorkers in jobs,

          5  an increase of over 80 percent from 2005.

          6                 Since April 2004, job placements in

          7  the Workforce Career Centers have risen from 127 per

          8  quarter to over 4,300 per quarter. We've expanded

          9  the total number of our career centers from three to

         10  a current portfolio of seven. These centers which

         11  provide workshops, vocational skills training,

         12  on-site recruitment and job referral services are

         13  run by some of the very best service providers

         14  throughout the City.

         15                 We have also become more effective at

         16  placing New Yorkers in jobs by working closely with

         17  employers, meeting their hiring and training needs.

         18                 In 2006, New York Business Solution

         19  hiring helped large City-wide businesses hire

         20  employees in six targeted industries: retail,

         21  financial services, health care, industrial

         22  manufacturing, hospitality and tourism and

         23  technology.

         24                 In one recent partnership with Whole

         25  Foods, we helped them hire 349 new employees for
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          2  their new store on Bowery and Houston Streets.

          3                 We not only help companies hire

          4  employees, we have also invested in training. We are

          5  now working with companies to help them train their

          6  employees for better, higher-paying jobs that make

          7  New York companies more competitive.

          8                 SBS has awarded 30 grants totaling

          9  $2.6 million to hire and train 1,847 New Yorkers.

         10  Trainees participating in these programs have

         11  benefitted from significant wage increases,

         12  averaging 30 percent.

         13                 This program is the first time the

         14  City is providing funding to help small businesses

         15  hire and promote employees, increase employees'

         16  skills and wages, and become more competitive.

         17                 We have leveraged an additional $3.7

         18  million in matching employer funds to the grant. We

         19  also administer an individual training program that

         20  is directly connected to high growth jobs. We now

         21  evaluate training providers, not only on their

         22  licensing and accreditation but on their job

         23  placement rates, and we post these evaluations

         24  on-line.

         25                 This initiative helps job seekers and
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          2  career advisors make the best choice about which

          3  training programs will lead to job placement.

          4                 We have made great gains in

          5  developing our Workforce Program, and the good news

          6  is New York City has the lowest unemployment rate in

          7  decades. Because of our record of success in

          8  Workforce development, we're tackling new

          9  initiatives from the Mayor's Center for Economic

         10  Opportunity. With the recent support of the City

         11  Council, a series of new initiatives will be

         12  launched at SBS in the next year, that will assist

         13  hard-working New Yorkers to move out of poverty.

         14  These include an industry-focused Workforce Career

         15  Center, develop and retention, advancement in work

         16  support strategies, and increase training funds for

         17  work readiness and literacy skills.

         18                 The bad news is that we're also

         19  facing federal cuts. Our federal Workforce

         20  Investment Act funds have been cut $13.1 million in

         21  Fiscal Year 2007. We now need to look very hard at

         22  all our programs, our centers and our partners to

         23  find ways to cut the $13.1 million from our budget,

         24  at a time when we have one of the most aggressive,

         25  ambitious and comprehensive programs connecting New
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          2  Yorkers to jobs.

          3                 As you can see, we've worked very

          4  hard to serve small businesses from across the

          5  boroughs, empower neighborhoods and help New Yorkers

          6  find jobs.

          7                 We have put forward an ambitious

          8  agenda and we're grateful for the City Council's

          9  role in these accomplishments.

         10                 I want to thank you very much for all

         11  your support over the last year, and be happy to

         12  take any questions you have.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         15  Commissioner Walsh.

         16                 I just want to say I'm going to limit

         17  my questions. I'm going to waive my questions and

         18  turn it over to my co-chair, who I think may have

         19  some questions. But before I do that, I just want to

         20  thank you and your office for your good working

         21  relationship with me, and my Committee over these

         22  last five and a half years or so, and I'm happy to

         23  say that we joined together in creating these 11 new

         24  BIDs, and look forward to the six new BIDs that are

         25  being proposed. And I've said this many times, that
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          2  the Business Improvement Districts that have

          3  flourished under your watch and under Mayor

          4  Bloomberg are really a win/win for the City,

          5  especially in times when we don't necessarily have

          6  the huge surpluses that we have this year and last

          7  year, but in other times enables to provide

          8  additional services to areas without any additional

          9  charge to the City, without taking away from

         10  existing services. But just for curiosity, what are

         11  the six new proposed BIDs that you expect to happen?

         12                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I knew you were

         13  going to do this and I ended up cutting that from my

         14  proposal.

         15                 Anyone have it?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         17  We've got Bayside --

         18                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Go ahead. Andy

         19  Schwartz.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I think one is in

         21  my area.

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         23  Right. Bayside and Sunnyside I think are two of

         24  them. I'm going from memory as well.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Park Slope is
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          2  another.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          4  Yes, Fifth Avenue.

          5                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Southern

          6  Boulevard in the Bronx. I will get you the list.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, that's

          8  fine.

          9                 Okay, Chairman Yassky.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, sir. Thank

         11  you, Chair Weprin, and I will also -- Commissioner,

         12  I appreciate your patience and accommodating our

         13  delayed schedule. I will try and just keep it to a

         14  few questions.

         15                 Your agency budget has gone up really

         16  dramatically from the proposed budget, or you know,

         17  the Preliminary Budget; what is the bulk of that?

         18  What accounts for that increase?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         20  It's CDC actually. From the Preliminary Budget to

         21  the Executive Budget.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's the EDC

         23  sustainability.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         25  Correct. Yes, actually there's the $25 million
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          2  brownfield project, you know, $8 million set aside

          3  for Pier A, 1.2 million on Greenpoint Williamsburg

          4  and then the sustainability staffing. So, that's

          5  approximately a 30 odd million dollar difference.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. And it's

          7  whatever, 39 million, 39 million dollar increase

          8  from the, I guess you're now composing the $38

          9  million compared to last year's adopted budget,

         10  right?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         12  That's correct. There were new needs for our agency

         13  as well, limited, in terms of the Business Express

         14  lines, also items for the Mayor's Commission on

         15  Construction that totaled about $620,000 in MWBE

         16  capacity building of 195,000.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: The cuts, the

         18  federal cuts that you talked about, Commissioner, if

         19  I remember, and I may be, you know, wrong, so

         20  correct me if I'm wrong, that when we talked about

         21  this at the preliminary hearing, do I remember

         22  correctly that you said that these wouldn't really

         23  affect the fiscal year that we're in now, they would

         24  affect the fiscal year that's coming?

         25                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Introduce
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          2  yourself.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Hi. I'm

          4  Scott Zucker, Deputy Commissioner for Workforce

          5  Development. It wasn't an issue of whether they

          6  would affect this fiscal year or next fiscal year,

          7  it was a question that the affect was being felt

          8  over time.

          9                 The federal cuts came in Fiscal Year

         10  2007, $13.1 million were cut out of our budget. At

         11  that point in time, we had surplus funds that had

         12  gone unspent from the prior years, they were able to

         13  cushion a portion of those cuts in Fiscal Year '07,

         14  so our service reductions in '07 are really limited

         15  to scaling back the number of individual training

         16  grants that we issue. That was the primary cut. As

         17  we looked towards Fiscal Year '08, knowing we were

         18  going to be running out of that cushion, we then had

         19  to plan for additional service cuts.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. And in the

         21  year we're in now, the '07 year --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You said that you

         24  had to do a little bit of trimming of existing

         25  service contracts; what was that? I don't know, 3
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          2  million, 5 million?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Well,

          4  what we did, we made two cuts to existing programs.

          5  The first one wasn't a contractual item, it was our

          6  individual training grant program. We previously had

          7  been issuing vouchers worth about $17 million a

          8  year, and we began the process of slowing that down

          9  so that it was a 40 percent cutback, so we went from

         10  about 7,000 vouchers per year to about 4,000

         11  vouchers per year, but we brought it down slowly

         12  over time. So, you didn't see the full $7 million of

         13  savings in Fiscal Year '07, and we were moving

         14  towards that steady state.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: So, how many

         16  vouchers will you issue this year in '07, 4,000?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER:

         18  Approximately. A little bit more because we were

         19  slowing down to that rate.

         20                 And each voucher can be up to $2,500,

         21  so there is a little bit of variability, depending

         22  on the actual pricing of the courses that we

         23  support.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And will you

         25  maintain that same 4,000 number next year under the
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          2  budget you're proposing?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Yes, we

          4  will.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, that's not

          6  an additional source of savings.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: That's

          8  correct. We felt we had already taken that as deep

          9  as we could afford to and trying to keep the amount

         10  of training in proportion to the other services. We

         11  didn't want to take that any deeper.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: What are the

         13  savings for next year then?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: Right.

         15  They're coming in three primary areas. We did have

         16  to make the difficult decision to close one of our

         17  three Workforce 1 Career Centers in the Bronx,

         18  that's going to result in a savings of about $1.2

         19  million per year.

         20                 In addition to that, we decided not

         21  to use some of our federal money to fund technology

         22  enhancements, that enable our centers to do

         23  electronic assessments and to refer candidates to

         24  job seekers. That also saves about $1.2 million. And

         25  then taking advantage of, just trying to be very
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          2  smart in how we use the money that's coming from CEO

          3  to integrate those investments within our system. We

          4  decided we would scale back our funding for our

          5  customized training grants, the funding that we use

          6  that comes from the federal monies. So, overall we

          7  will be able to expand the value of those grants,

          8  but we're going to be using less, $1.2 million less

          9  in federal funds to support that.

         10                 The final item was that we decided

         11  not to go ahead and procure a new portfolio to

         12  replace the expiring portfolio that currently serves

         13  individuals with substantial barriers to employment.

         14  That's saving about $6 million per year.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry, can

         16  you explain that part? You're saying these are

         17  contracts with outside providers who do job training

         18  and placement for individuals with substantial

         19  barriers, and there are about $6 million worth of

         20  those contracts expiring that won't be renewed.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ZUCKER: That's

         22  correct. We currently have a portfolio of 14

         23  organizations, primarily community-based

         24  organizations that serve individuals who have

         25  limited English proficiency, basic skills, and what
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          2  we are working to do going forward is to improve our

          3  ability to serve those populations in our Workforce

          4  Career 1 centers because there simply is not enough

          5  funding to continue to support those organizations

          6  on a stand alone basis.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Do we regard that

          8  as a kind of loss in services? I mean, in other

          9  words, as opposed to the --

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Loss.  If there

         11  was a way to do this --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: You'd like to

         13  keep doing it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: We'd like to keep

         15  doing it, absolutely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay. All right,

         17  thank you. I guess my only other -- not really a

         18  question, but I just want to put on the record,

         19  Commissioner, we've talked off the record about the

         20  idea of expanding the City's efforts to provide

         21  microlending to entrepreneurs, I just want to put it

         22  on the record.

         23                 My strong belief, I know the

         24  Administration's Commission on Economic Opportunity

         25  identified this as a key tool for helping to lift
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          2  people out of, you know, poverty and working poverty

          3  and into middle class, and in the hearings we've

          4  done that your agency has participated in

          5  marvelously, you know, I became thoroughly convinced

          6  that this is just such a valuable tool, and as you

          7  know, some of our colleagues here are pursuing

          8  within the Council an effort to have the Council try

          9  and allocate some funding to do this. And I know

         10  that there are some legal issues that your agency is

         11  working on about, you know, how exactly you would

         12  implement an effort like that, but I would just urge

         13  that, you know, devote your best minds to figuring

         14  out how to do it in a legal way, because I think as

         15  a policy matter it's just a clear winner.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: I would just add

         17  that it is evidenced by the fact that people are

         18  coming to our Business Solution Centers to talk

         19  about access to grants and funds and we've been able

         20  to hook them up with, you know, some of the best of

         21  the nonprofits and commercial lenders in the City.

         22                 I mean, it's one of the key reasons

         23  people are coming into our centers. They're small

         24  businesses, they're entrepreneurs, they want a piece

         25  of the rock, they want to get started, and we've
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          2  been able to help them access $30 million, but when

          3  you start talking about microloans and a creative

          4  that you've initiated, it will only help and it will

          5  drive traffic to our Business Solution Centers. I am

          6  convinced it will work.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         10                 We've been joined by Council Member

         11  Peter Vallone, Jr., who I recognized this morning

         12  having attended his grandmother's funeral, and I'll

         13  repeat that on behalf of the Finance Committee and

         14  the Council, we'd like to extend our condolences to

         15  Council Member Vallone and his entire family, and

         16  our thoughts and prayers are with you.

         17                 Council Member Reyna, do you have any

         18  questions? You're not obligated. Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: On the

         20  microlending piece, using an entity such as a credit

         21  union, would it be possible for the City to invest

         22  City tax levy dollars, like as a deposit to our

         23  municipal credit union, to be able to then leverage

         24  that funding so that now you use this as a deposit,

         25  but you're really using the credit union's resources
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          2  to lend out money at a lesser percentage or a more

          3  suitable percentage, interest rate of return?

          4                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: This is what

          5  we're struggling with on the legality of it, and

          6  people have made, you know, talked about the

          7  difficulty we're having, and I'm going to turn it

          8  over to the lawyer in a second, after I really

          9  completely botch this, but the difficulty we're

         10  having is using tax levy funds as an instrument for

         11  lending to the public. That's the difficulty we're

         12  having.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Correct.

         14                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: We have been

         15  talking about other possibilities of, you know, some

         16  of the -- I'm going to get myself in trouble and

         17  talk about Accion, and the great work they have done

         18  in Upper Manhattan and Washington Heights and some

         19  other areas where they set aside a pool of money and

         20  have been working with the banks. If we could end up

         21  joining hands with a program, you know, like that,

         22  it would make sense. The Municipal Credit Union is

         23  something I haven't heard before, and I don't know,

         24  and we're looking, I mean we're trying to turn over

         25  every stone to see if we can put a program like this
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          2  together. It makes so much sense. It's a reason why

          3  people are coming into our solution centers. And it

          4  gives more people a reason to come.

          5                 Andy, I don't know if you want to add

          6  to this? But we're really stumbling on that legal

          7  issue, every time we put something up, it's you

          8  can't do this because it's tax levy funds and you

          9  can't use tax levy funds and distribute it out as a

         10  loan.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

         12  Yes, I would agree with what the Commissioner is

         13  saying, and this is going to take work with the Law

         14  Department, and we're open to that. We know the

         15  attorneys there have been creative in structuring a

         16  number of programs we did, the industrial relocation

         17  grants, the Greenpoint Williamsburg grants, and

         18  we'll look to work on that, too. This is the first I

         19  heard of the Municipal Credit Union, but of course,

         20  they'll be concerned, I'm sure, with protection of

         21  assets and rate of return, but we will explore that

         22  as well.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I only

         24  mention the Municipal Credit Union as an example

         25  because that's the City's, you know, biggest pool of

                                                            142

          1  FINANCE, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SMALL BUSINESS

          2  resources where City employees have direct bank

          3  accounts and the ability to borrow and leverage

          4  funding, and so if the City were to partner up with

          5  this credit union, to be able to say we're going to

          6  make this deposit of City tax levy dollars, we would

          7  want to administer this type of microlending through

          8  the Municipal Credit Union without using necessarily

          9  the City tax levy dollars.

         10                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: It's new to me.

         11  Let us hustle, let us try to move fast. I've heard

         12  from Councilman Yassky. If you want funding for

         13  this, you guys have got to help us put a mechanism

         14  together. I want to get this thing done. I want to

         15  figure out one way or another how to introduce a

         16  program like this. So, we will get back to you

         17  quickly.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Absolutely.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WALSH: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         22  Commissioner.

         23                 This concludes this portion of the

         24  Finance, Economic Development and Small Business

         25  Services Committee, Small Business Committee, and we
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          2  will now reconvene with the Juvenile Justice

          3  Committee.

          4                 Is the Commissioner in the house?

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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